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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION 

 
JUSTIN HART, 

                               Plaintiff,  

 

v. 

 

META PLATFORMS, INC., f/k/a Facebook, 

Inc.; TWITTER, INC.; VIVEK MURTHY in 

his official capacity as United States Surgeon 

General; JOSEPH R. BIDEN, JR. in his 

official capacity as President of the United 

States; the DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 

AND HUMAN SERVICES; and the OFFICE 

OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET, 

 

                               Defendants. 

 

Case No. 3:22-cv-00737-CRB 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO AMEND 

COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO RULE 15 

  

Judge: Hon. Charles C. Breyer 

Date: March 24, 2023 

Time: 10:00 AM 

Ctrm: Courtroom 6 

 

Action Filed: August 31, 2021 

Trial Date: None 
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Introduction 

Plaintiff, Justin Hart, seeks leave of this Court to amend his original Complaint 

(“Compl.”) under Fed. R. Civ. P. 15 with his proposed First Amended Complaint (“Am. 

Compl.”).  attached as Exhibit A along with supporting Exhibits as Exhibit B. Further, a red-

line copy of the Am. Compl. compared against the Compl. is also attached as Exhibit C. 

Plaintiff’s amendment is based on information obtained for the first time (1) in response to 

his pending FOIA claim and requests to the Department of Health and Human Services 

(“HHS”) and the Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”); (2) in a similar case, Missouri 

v. Biden, summarized as discovery documents produced and a deposition transcript; and (3) 

in a public release of information by new Twitter owner Elon Musk referred to as the “Twitter 

Files.” 

Factual Background 

 Plaintiff’s federal non-FOIA claim was dismissed. 

Plaintiff commenced this action in August of 2021, alleging six counts against the 

Defendants: President Biden, Surgeon General Murthy1 (collectively, “the Federal 

Government Defendants”); Meta Platforms, Inc.,2 and Twitter, Inc. (collectively, “the Social 

Media Defendants”). One count was a FOIA claim specifically against HHS and OMB; the 

other five were a combination of federal and state supplemental claims resulting from 

allegations of joint action between the Federal Government Defendants and the Social 

Media Defendants in violation of Plaintiff’s First Amendment rights. 

On May 5, 2022, this Court dismissed Hart’s federal claim against the Social Media 

Defendants and Federal Government Defendants and declined to exercise supplemental 

jurisdiction over the state law claims, leaving only Hart’s FOIA claim against the Federal 

Government Defendants. Order, Dkt. 87. The Court did so based on a finding that Plaintiff 

had not pled and could not plead sufficient facts to establish joint action to prove a First 

 
1 President Biden and Surgeon General Murthy direct, respectively, OMB and HHS. 

2 f/k/a Facebook, Inc., Meta will be referred to as “Facebook” where appropriate. 
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Amendment violation.  

But, in doing so, this Court explicitly left the door open for an amended complaint: 

“However, Hart still has a FOIA claim against HHS and OMB as to his request for 

information about the Federal Defendants’ supposed communications with Facebook and 

Twitter about his accounts.” Id. at 18, citing Compl. ¶¶ 66-74.  

“If Hart prevails and learns facts that plausibly suggest that ‘the state has so 

far insinuated itself into a position of interdependence with [Facebook and 

Twitter] that it must be recognized as a joint participant’ in enforcing their 

company policies, the Court will permit amendment.”  

 

Id., quoting Gorenc v. Salt River Project Agr. Imp. & Power Dist., 869 F.2d 503, 507 (9th 

Cir. 1989). Plaintiff now seeks to amend his Complaint in accordance with this Court’s 

Order based on the new information uncovered in his FOIA claim, discovery in Missouri v. 

Biden, and the Twitter Files released publicly by Elon Musk. 

 The New Information 

In summary, information revealed to Plaintiff for the first time in response to his FOIA 

request and claim, as well as other contemporaneous FOIA and discovery responses in 

other similar cases, and the release of the Twitter Files (the “New Information”) reveal the 

following: 1) Facebook offered the federal government $15 million in free COVID-19 public 

health advertising to promote its public health message on the Internet. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 35-

37 and supporting Exs. 1, 2) The federal government accepted this gift, with a condition 

and limitation on Facebook’s use of the name of HHS, its sub-agency the Centers for 

Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”), or any other agency when promoting the 

government’s public health message, as well as a requirement that Facebook “clear all 

publicity materials . . . with HHS and CDC” before posting on the Internet. Id. ¶¶ 38-41 

and Ex. 2, 3). The CDC and Federal Government Defendants coordinated its COVID 

“misinformation” response with the Social Media Defendants by holding regular “be-on-

the-lookout” meetings and by providing Facebook with examples of the sort of COVID-19 

messages it wanted censored on the Internet that contradicted the government’s public 

health message. Id. ¶¶ 42-47 and Exs. 3-7, 4). Facebook shared survey data with the CDC 
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and held meetings with government representatives to address vaccine hesitancy on 

Facebook’s platform. Id. ¶ 61 and Exs. 8, 5). Facebook used proprietary tools to monitor 

social media posts on the Internet that contradicted the federal government’s COVID-19 

narrative and reported such posts to the federal government. Id. ¶ 69-71 and Exs. 9, 10, 6). 

Facebook adjusted its policies and algorithms to align with misinformation policies set 

forth by the Federal Government Defendants in determining whether to delete posts from 

the Internet, and Facebook employees were defensive and submissive toward their federal 

masters, scurrying to “do more” to “limit[] the spread of harmful misinformation” as the 

Federal Government Defendants “call[ed]” and directed them to do. Id. ¶¶ 74-82 and Exs. 

11, 12, 7). And all of this happened prior to Plaintiff’s suspension from the Social Media 

Defendants’ platforms and his valid public health messages being deleted by the Social 

Media Defendants from the Internet in July 2021. 

In October 2022, the Western District of Louisiana authorized depositions in a similar 

case for Defendant Murthy, Jennifer Psaki, and Carol Crawford, finding that they called 

for and organized efforts to squelch dissenting opinions on social media. Missouri v. Biden, 

No. 3:22-cv-1213-TAD-KDM (W.D. La.) Dkt. 90. In his proposed Am. Compl., Plaintiff Hart 

is adding as new parties Carol Crawford and Rob Flaherty. Crawford’s deposition revealed 

that the federal government had insinuated itself into a position of interdependence with 

the Social Media Defendants by holding regular BOLO meetings to assist them with 

implementing their misinformation policies on their private platforms and the Internet.  

Additionally, discovery in Missouri v. Biden produced emails between Flaherty and 

anonymous Facebook officials, in which Flaherty dresses down and admonishes a Facebook 

official for allowing “borderline content” on Facebook’s private social media platform.  

In late 2022, Elon Musk released the Twitter Files, internal Twitter documents that 

demonstrate that 1) Twitter used bots to moderate content on its platform; 2) Twitter used 

contractors given decision trees to moderate content; 3) higher level employees at Twitter 

chose the inputs for the bots and decision trees, and subjectively decided escalated cases 

and suspensions based on their biased views. 
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Finally, as a result of the public release of the Twitter Files, Plaintiff uncovered 

evidence that he was specifically targeted by former FDA commissioner Dr. Scott Gottlieb. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

As responsive pleadings have already been served, a plaintiff seeking to amend his 

complaint at this stage must seek leave of the court to do so. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a). Leave to 

amend “shall be freely given when justice so requires.” Id. This policy is “to be applied with 

extreme liberality.” Owens v. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc., 244 F.3d 708, 712 (9th 

Cir. 2001) (cleaned up). Thus, leave to amend is given unless the opposing party can 

establish “bad faith, undue delay, prejudice to the opposing party, and/or futility.” Id. 

(cleaned up). 

ARGUMENT 

I. Amendment is justified due to the discovery of the New Information. 

In response to Hart’s FOIA request in this case, and other similarly-timed FOIA 

requests, discovery in other cases, and the public release of the Twitter Files, HHS and 

OMB have produced information demonstrating that the government has, indeed, “so far 

insinuated itself into a position of interdependence . . . that it must be recognized as a joint 

participant” in enforcing the Social Media Companies’ Covid “misinformation” policies. 

Gorenc, 869 F.2d at 507. Whereas previously Plaintiff could only speculate as to the nature 

of the Federal Government Defendants’ relationship with the Social Media Defendants 

based on publicly available statements, Plaintiff now has evidence, produced by the 

Federal Government Defendants themselves, showing exactly how far the federal 

government has “insinuated itself” into the Social Media Defendants’ COVID 

“misinformation” policies. See Am. Compl. Exs. 1-12; ante at 3. Whereas he could 

previously only cite a press conference held after Facebook began taking action against him 

(Facebook Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 73 at 6), the New Information conclusively proves that 

the joint action between the Federal and Social Media Defendants predates the actions the 

Social Media Defendants took against him. And where previously Plaintiff had to make do 
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with “general statements about working together,”3 Plaintiff now has documented evidence 

that the Social Media Defendants worked at the government’s request to censor dissenting 

views and provided the government with regular updates on its progress, and the Social 

Media Defendants did not follow their own “misinformation” policies. Moreover, Plaintiff 

now knows that he was named and targeted by Dr. Gottlieb. This is precisely the 

information the Court sought in its Order: proof that “‘the state has so far insinuated itself 

into a position of interdependence with [Facebook and Twitter] that it must be recognized 

as a joint participant.’” Dkt. 87 at 18, quoting Gorenc, 869 F.2d at 507. The Court said in 

its order that it would permit such an amendment. Id. Indeed, it should do so now based on 

the New Information. 

II. No good reason exists to deny amendment. 

“In the absence of any apparent or declared reason – such as undue delay, bad 

faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure 

deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the 

opposing party by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of the 

amendment, etc. – the leave sought should, as the rules require, be freely 

given.”  

 

Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 183 (1962) (citation omitted). None of these reasons to deny 

amendment exist here. 

1. There was no undue delay, bath faith, or repeated failure to cure 

deficiencies by previous amendments. 

 

Although he attempted to amend his complaint in October of 2022, Plaintiff recently 

withdrew that motion because of additional relevant and critical information that recently 

came to light. To the extent that there has been a delay, the primary cause was HHS and 

OMB failing to timely respond to Hart’s FOIA request of July 22, 2021. HHS and OMB 

made their final production on June 3, 2022, nearly a year after Plaintiff made his FOIA 

request. Additionally, Plaintiff has drawn information from other sources not available to 

him when he filed his initial complaint, as detailed above. 

 
3 Facebook’s Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 73 at 5 (cleaned up). See also Twitter’s Motion to Dismiss, Dkt. 70 

at 9. 
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In addition, this Court (and its predecessor in the Southern District of California) has 

been generous in granting the Defendants additional time to file their briefs or respond to 

Plaintiff’s FOIA request. See Dkts. 11, 21, 26, 64, 91. It would be the height of hypocrisy 

now for Defendants to turn around and complain about undue delay when they have taken 

nearly a year to produce FOIA documents that were required under law to be produced 

months ago. 

2. Amendment will not unduly prejudice the opposing parties. 

Undue prejudice occurs when a complaint is amended late in the proceedings—shortly 

before trial or after the close of discovery. See Kaplan v. Rose, 49 F.3d 1363, 1370 (9th Cir. 

1994); Texaco, Inc. v. Ponsoldt, 939 F.2d 794, 799 (9th Cir. 1991). Specifically, prejudice 

arises from “expense, delay, and wear and tear on individuals and companies,” Kaplan, 49 

F.3d at 1370 (quoting district court opinion), for example, where prior discovery is nullified 

or future discovery required that was not required by the original complaint, Jackson v. 

Bank of Haw., 902 F.2d 1385, 1387 (9th Cir. 1990), or where “numerous new claims” are 

added “so close to trial,” Texaco, 939 F.2d at 799. Contrast Telephia Inc. v. Cuppy, 2005 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 59653, at *6 (N.D. Ca.) (amendment allowed when “almost two months of 

fact discovery remained”). Here, amendment is sought even earlier in the schedule. 

Defendants cannot claim that they would suffer any prejudice by amendment. 

3. Amendment is not futile. 

“A claim is considered futile and leave to amend to add it shall not be given if there is 

no set of facts which can be proved under the amendment which would constitute a valid 

claim or defense. Denial of leave to amend on this ground is rare.” Netbula, LLC v. Distinct 

Corp., 212 F.R.D. 534, 539 (N.D. Cal. 2003). Accord Green Valley Corp. v. Caldo Oil Co., 

No. 09cv4028-LHK, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44540, 2011 WL 1465883, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 

18, 2011) (noting “the general preference against denying a motion for leave to amend 

based on futility.”). The preference in this Circuit is to grant leave to amend, and then 

address the sufficiency of the new complaint through a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, rather 

than litigating the amended complaint’s merits through the futility prong. Id. Accord Lillis 
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v. Apria Healthcare, No. 12-cv-52-IEG (KSC), 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144775, 2012 WL 

4760908, at *1 (S.D. Cal. Oct. 5, 2012) (“their arguments to the sufficiency of the proposed 

pleadings, even if merited, remain better left for full briefing on a motion to dismiss.”). 

The Court dismissed Plaintiff’s original complaint because Plaintiff “fail[ed] to come 

close to alleging that Facebook and Twitter’s enforcement of their misinformation policies 

against him were state action.” Dkt. 87 at 18. The Court did so because Plaintiff could not 

make a sufficient allegation on speculation alone. But the Court left the door open for 

amendment, acknowledging that Plaintiff could “learn[] facts that plausibly suggest that 

‘the state has so far insinuated itself . . .’” Id., quoting Gorenc, 869 F.2d at 507. In doing so, 

the Court implicitly acknowledged that such an amendment would not be futile. From the 

facts uncovered by Plaintiff in his new proposed Am. Compl., Plaintiff has clearly 

demonstrated that his claims are not futile and are supported by robust factual evidence.  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff Justin Hart seeks leave to amend his Complaint. As 

indicated above, a true and correct copy of his proposed Amended Complaint is attached as 

Exhibit A to this filing along with supporting Exhibits evidencing the New Information as 

Exhibit B. 

 

Dated: February 15, 2023   Respectfully submitted, 

s/ Daniel Suhr_________                              

      Daniel Suhr, pro hac vice admitted  

      dsuhr@libertyjusticecenter.org  

      M.E. Buck Dougherty III, pro hac vice admitted  

      bdougherty@libertyjusticecenter.org  

      James McQuaid, pro hac vice admitted  

      jmcquaid@libertyjusticecenter.org  

      LIBERTY JUSTICE CENTER 

      440 N. Wells Street, Suite 200  

      Chicago, Illinois 60654  

      Telephone: 312-637-2280  

      Facsimile: 312-263-7702  
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capacity as U.S. Surgeon General; JOSEPH 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. “A fundamental principle of the First Amendment is that all persons have access to 

places where they can speak and listen, and then, after reflection, speak and listen once 

more. The [United States Supreme] Court has sought to protect the right to speak in this 

spatial context.” Packingham v. North Carolina, 137 S. Ct. 1730, 1735 (2017).  

2. “While in the past there may have been difficulty in identifying the most important 

places (in a spatial sense) for the exchange of views, today the answer is clear. It is 

cyberspace — the ‘vast democratic forums of the Internet’ in general, Reno v. American 

Civil Liberties Union, 521 U. S. 844, 868 (1997), and social media in particular.” 

Packingham, 137 S. Ct. at 1735. 

3. The Internet is a “dynamic, multifaceted category of communication” that “includes 

not only traditional print and news services, but also audio, video, and still images, as well 

as interactive, real-time dialogue.” Reno, 521 U. S. at 870. 

4. Congress determined that “[t]he Internet and other interactive computer 

services offer a forum for a true diversity of political discourse, unique opportunities for 

cultural development, and myriad avenues for intellectual activity.” 47 U.S.C. § 230(a)(3). 

And Congress further found that “[t]he Internet and other interactive computer 

services have flourished, to the benefit of all Americans, with a minimum of government 

regulation.” 47 U.S.C. § 230(a)(4). 

5. It is the policy of the United States “to preserve the vibrant and competitive free 

market that presently exists for the Internet” that is “unfettered by Federal or State 

regulation.” 47 U.S.C. § 230(b)(2). 

6. Here, the Defendants conspired to remove from the Internet—a public forum 

devoted to the marketplace of ideas—valid public health messages and social media posts 

by Plaintiff, Justin Hart, and others, because they disagreed with the viewpoint and 

message expressed in such posts on the Internet, which contradicted the federal 

government’s COVID-19 public health message and views expressed. 
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7. The Federal Government Defendants (President Biden, Surgeon General Murthy, 

Flaherty, and Crawford) publicly criticized, exerted pressure, and threatened the Social 

Media Defendants (Meta Platforms, Inc. and Twitter, Inc.) and other social media 

platforms for allowing views opposed to the federal government’s COVID-19 public health 

message to be posted on their platforms that access the Internet. 

8. Such coercive, bullying, and intimidating threats and tactics by government officials 

designed to censor speech through private social media companies have been referred to as 

illegal jawboning.1 “The term ‘jawboning’ was first used [during World War II] to describe 

official speech intended to control the behavior of businessmen and financial markets.”2 

9. The Ninth Circuit has long recognized the inherent problems associated with illegal 

jawboning techniques where government officials desired effect is censoring lawful free 

speech rights under the First Amendment. See, e.g., Writers Guild of America, West, Inc. v. 

American Broadcasting Co., Inc., 609 F. 2d 355, 365 (9th Cir.1979) (“Regulation through 

‘raised eyebrow’ techniques or through forceful jawboning is commonplace in the 

administrative context, and in some instances may fairly be characterized . . . as official 

action by the agency.”) (footnotes omitted), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 824 (1980); see Bantam 

Books, Inc. v. Sullivan, 372 U.S. 52, 64 (1963) (holding government threats that amount to 

a censorship scheme violate free speech rights under the First Amendment.); see also 

Backpage.com, LLC v. Dart, 807 F. 3d 229, 231 (7th Cir. 2015) (Posner, J.) (“The First 

Amendment forbids a public official to attempt to suppress the protected speech of private 

persons by threatening that legal sanctions will at his urging be imposed unless there is 

 
1 See Will Duffield, Jawboning against Speech: How Government Bullying Shapes the Rules 

of Social Media, Policy Analysis no. 934, Cato Institute, Washington D.C. (Sep. 12, 2022), 

available at https://www.cato.org/policy-analysis/jawboning-against-speech. 

2 Id at p.2. 
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compliance with his demands.”). 

10. And in private communications, the Federal Government Defendants held regular 

“be-on-the-lookout” warning meetings with the Social Media Defendants and overtly 

instructed them on the specific types of so called COVID-19 “disinformation” or 

“misinformation” that should be excluded from their platforms and the Internet, regardless 

of whether such public posts violated the Social Media Defendants’ terms, conditions, and 

policies on “disinformation” or “misinformation.” The Social Media Defendants even 

adjusted their policies and algorithms on valid public health messages and acceptable 

viewpoints on the Internet to align with the Federal Government Defendants’ pre-approved 

COVID-19 public health message and viewpoint. 

11. The Social Media Defendants removing from the Internet COVID-19 related posts 

that opposed or contradicted the Federal Government Defendants’ COVID-19 message—

such as Hart’s posts—violated the Social Media Defendants’ terms, conditions, and policies 

on “disinformation” or “misinformation,” because they acquiesced under duress to coercive 

pressure from the Federal Government Defendants.  

12. Some of the Social Media Defendants further acquiesced under duress by giving the 

Federal Government Defendants millions of dollars in free advertising on their private 

platforms so the government’s COVID-19 public health message would not be challenged 

on the Internet, despite the private Social Media Defendants substantially earning their 

revenue from third party advertising on their social media platforms. 

13.  The Federal Government Defendants knowingly received a benefit from the Social 

Media Defendants excluding from the Internet opposing views to the government’s COVID-

19 public health message such as Hart’s public posts, because the government’s views were 

unchallenged and without public scrutiny on the “vibrant and competitive free market that 

presently exists for the Internet” in violation of United States policy. 47 U.S.C. § 230(b)(2). 

14.  The Federal Government Defendants also knowingly received a financial benefit 

from some of the Social Media Defendants’ financial gifts of millions of dollars in free 
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advertising to promote the government’s COVID-19 public health message, because the 

Federal Government Defendants did not have to pay for a service—advertising its COVID-

19 public health message on the Internet—that others who sought and paid for message 

advertising on the Internet, such as Hart, were required to pay to the Social Media 

Defendants. 

15.  First, Hart brings this action to defend the freedom of speech under the First 

Amendment from viewpoint-based, discriminatory collusion between private social media 

companies and the federal government, because they jointly removed his COVID-19 social 

media posts from the Internet since Hart’s posts contradicted the federal government’s 

COVID-19 public health message and views.  

16.  “It is axiomatic that the government may not regulate speech based on its 

substantive content or the message it conveys.” Rosenberger v. Rector & Visitors of the 

Univ. of Va., 515 U.S. 819, 828 (1995). Under the Free Speech Clause of the First 

Amendment, “discrimination against speech because of its message is presumed to be 

unconstitutional.” Id.  

17.  A conspiracy between private and governmental actors satisfies the joint action test 

when they have had a “meeting of the minds” to “violate constitutional rights.” Fonda v. 

Gray, 707 F. 2d 435, 438 (9th Cir. 1983). When a government actor has “so far insinuated 

itself into a position of interdependence” with private actors it is recognized as a joint 

participant in the challenged constitutional deprivation. See Gorenc v. Salt River Project 

Agr. Imp. & Power Dist., 869 F. 2d 503, 507 (9th Cir. 1989) (quoting Burton v. Wilmington 

Parking Auth., 365 U.S. 715, 725 (1961)). Such joint action between government and 

private parties transforms private actors into state actors. See Pasadena Republican Club 

v. W. Justice Ctr., 985 F. 3d 1161, 1167 (9th Cir. 2021). 

18.  When the federal government admits to conspiring with social media companies to 

censor messages on the Internet with which it disagrees, as it has in this case, both the 

government and the private companies are guilty of unconstitutional viewpoint 

discrimination: “Joint action exists where the government . . . encourages . . . 
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unconstitutional conduct through its involvement with a private party . . . .” Ohno v. 

Yasuma, 723 F.3d 984, 996 (9th Cir. 2013) (cleaned up). Joint action further occurs when 

there is “substantial cooperation” between the private and state actors, or their actions 

were “inextricably intertwined.” Brunette v. Humane Society of Ventura Cnty., 294 F. 3d 

1205, 1211 (9th Cir. 2002).  

19.  This Court should declare the actions of Defendants Meta Platforms, Inc., f/k/a 

Facebook, Inc., Twitter, Inc., President Biden, Surgeon General Murthy, Flaherty, and 

Crawford unconstitutional and permanently enjoin them from monitoring, flagging, 

censoring, and deleting social media posts on the Internet based on the viewpoints the 

posts espouse that contradict the federal government’s pre-approved viewpoint. The Court 

should further enjoin the Social Media Defendants from adjusting their policies on 

misinformation to align with the Federal Government Defendants’ misinformation policies. 

20.  Second, Defendants Meta Platforms, Inc., f/k/a Facebook, Inc., and Twitter, Inc. are 

liable under the doctrine of promissory estoppel for promising Hart the use of their social 

media platforms to access the Internet so he could further his business interests and then 

rescinding this promise after he relied on them to his detriment. 

21. Third, Defendant Meta Platforms, Inc., f/k/a Facebook, Inc., is liable to Hart for 

intentional interference with a contract for knowingly denying him the ability to fulfill his 

contractual duty to administer the Facebook account of Donorbureau, LLC. 

22. Fourth, Defendant Meta Platforms, Inc., f/k/a Facebook, Inc., is liable to Hart for 

negligent interference with a prospective economic advantage for knowingly disrupting the 

contractual relationship between Donorbureau, LLC and him by preventing him from 

administering the Facebook account of Donorbureau. 

23.  For these reasons, Hart brings this lawsuit and seeks declaratory, injunctive, and 

monetary relief for the constitutional deprivation, injuries, and injustices he has suffered 

at the hands of the Defendants. 
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PARTIES 

24.  Plaintiff, Justin Hart, is a natural person domiciled in San Diego County, 

California. 

25.  Defendant Meta Platforms, Inc., f/k/a Facebook, Inc., (“Facebook”) is a publicly 

traded corporation incorporated in Delaware with a principal place of business at 1601 

Willow Road, Menlo Park, California in San Mateo County.  

26.  Defendant Twitter, Inc. (“Twitter”) is a publicly traded corporation incorporated in 

Delaware with a principal place of business at 1355 Market Street, Suite 900, San 

Francisco, California in the City and County of San Francisco.  

27.  Defendant Vivek Murthy is sued in his official capacity as the Surgeon General of 

the United States. In that role, he directs the office of the Surgeon General, a part of the 

Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) agency within the Executive Branch of 

the federal government.  

28.  Defendant Joseph R. Biden, Jr. is sued in his official capacity as the President of 

the United States. In that role, he directs the Executive Branch of the federal government, 

including the Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”), White House staff, and HHS.  

29. Defendant Rob Flaherty is sued in his official capacity as the Deputy Assistant to 

the President of the United States and Director of Digital Strategy at the White House. 

30. Defendant Carol Y. Crawford is sued in her official capacity as Chief of the Digital 

Media Branch of the Division of Public Affairs within the Centers for Disease Control and 

Prevention (“CDC”). The CDC is an agency within HHS and the Executive Branch of the 

federal government. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

31. This case raises federal claims under the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution; therefore, the Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

32. This Court has jurisdiction to issue injunctive relief to protect constitutional rights. 

Free Enter. Fund v. Pub. Co. Accounting Oversight Bd., 561 U.S. 477, 491 n.2 (2010). 
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33. The Court has jurisdiction to issue declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 

and to order further necessary or proper relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202. 

34. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the California state law claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

35. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants Murthy, Biden, Flaherty, and 

Crawford because they are officers of, or oversee agencies of, the United States. 

36. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants Facebook and Twitter because 

they maintain their principal places of business in California. 

37. Venue is appropriate in this district because Facebook and Twitter maintain their 

principal places of business here and a substantial part of the events giving rising to the 

claims occurred in this district. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Facebook offered the government $15 million dollars in free COVID-19 advertising 

38. On February 21, 2021, Payton Iheme, a Facebook employee in charge of U.S. Public 

Policy at the social media platform, sent an email to Carol Crawford, an employee of the 

CDC. The CDC is a public health agency within HHS and its employees work with Surgeon 

General Murthy on public health issues such as COVID-19. A true and correct copy of this 

email string between Facebook’s Iheme and the CDC’s Crawford is attached as Exhibit 1. 

39. In the email, Facebook employee Iheme offered CDC and the federal government a 

$15 million-dollar in-kind donation to allow the government to advertise for free its 

COVID-19 public health message on Facebook’s private platform and the Internet. Id. 

 40. CDC employee Crawford responded to Facebook’s offer on the same day, stating, 

“Thank you for this amazing offer. We’ll work with our policy staff on next steps.” Id. 

The government placed a condition on the $15 million gift and Facebook accepted 

41. On April 5, 2021, Dia Taylor, CDC’s Acting Chief Operating Officer, sent an email to 

Facebook’s Iheme and copied Crawford and other CDC employees. The email contained an 

attached letter, and true copies of the email and letter are attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 
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42. In the letter from the CDC to Facebook, the federal government placed a “Publicity 

and Endorsements” conditional clause on Facebook’s $15 million gift of free COVID-19 

advertising. This clause required Facebook to not use the name of HHS, CDC, or any 

related federal agencies regarding the federal government’s COVID-19 public health 

messages to be posted on Facebook and the Internet. Id. 

43. The “Publicity and Endorsements” clause further required Facebook to “clear all 

publicity materials for this gift with HHS and CDC to ensure compliance with this 

paragraph.” Id.  

44. Facebook acknowledged there was a meeting of the minds by accepting the federal 

government’s “Publicity and Endorsements” conditional clause, evidenced by Iheme’s 

signature to the letter. Iheme then emailed a copy of the signed acceptance letter to the 

CDC on April 8, 2022. Id. 

 The government held “Be-on-the-lookout” meetings with social media companies  

45.  Beginning in May of 2021, the CDC scheduled regular “be-on-the-lookout” or BOLO 

meetings with social media platforms, including Facebook and Twitter, and provided 

detailed and specific instructions on what the government deemed to be COVID-19 

disinformation or misinformation and what information the private social media companies 

should or should not allow on their platforms and on the Internet. 

46. On May 6, 2021, the CDC sent an email to Facebook with examples of what COVID-

19 messages were inappropriate for the public on private social media platforms and the 

Internet. Attached as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of this email. 

47. On May 14, 2021, the CDC’s Crawford sent an email inviting social media 

companies including Facebook and Twitter to participate in a BOLO meeting and included 

a slide presentation related to COVID-19 “Misinformation.” Attached as Exhibit 4 is a 

true and correct copy of this email along with the COVID-19 slide presentation. 

48. On May 28, 2021, the CDC sent an email invitation for a second BOLO meeting 

with social media platforms including Facebook and Twitter, on COVID-19 
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“Misinformation.” Attached as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of this email along with 

the COVID-19 slide presentation. 

49. On June 18, 2021, the CDC sent another email invitation for a third BOLO meeting 

with social media platforms including Facebook and Twitter, on COVID-19 

“Misinformation.” Attached as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of this email along with 

the COVID-19 slide presentation. 

50. These BOLO meetings held in May and June, between the federal government and 

private social media platforms, including Facebook and Twitter, followed a trend that 

began in December of 2020, with the CDC’s Crawford initially emailing Facebook about 

COVID-19 “Misinformation.” Attached as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of this 

December 2020 email, along with a COVID-19 slide presentation. 

Deplatforming Justin Hart and removing his posts from the Internet 

51. In early July of 2021, in preparation for the upcoming school year, the CDC updated 

its guidelines and recommended that young children should continue to wear masks at 

school but vaccinated older students and teachers did not need to wear masks.3 

52. Following Facebook’s $15 million-dollar gift to the federal government, regular 

government BOLO instructional meetings with Facebook and Twitter, and the CDC’s 

updated masking guidelines for children, on or around July 13, 2021, Hart posted to his 

personal Facebook page and on the Internet a graphic entitled, “Masking Children is 

Impractical and Not Backed by Research or Real World Data.”  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3 https://www.chalkbeat.org/2021/7/9/22570068/new-cdc-guidance-schools-masks (last 

visited Oct. 10, 2022). 
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53. Below is a photo of the graphic in Hart’s post: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54. The graphic Hart posted is science-based, contains footnotes to scientific evidence 

supporting its claims, and is a valid public health message. 

55.  Facebook flagged the above post on or around July 13, 2021, with the following 

notice:  

You can’t post or comment for 3 days. 

 

This is because you previously posted something that didn’t follow our 

Community Standards.  

 

This post goes against our standards on misinformation that could cause 

physical harm, so only you can see it.  

 

Learn more about updates to our standards.  

 

56. On or around July 18, 2021, Hart posted to his personal Twitter page and on the 

Internet a tweet that read: 

So the CDC just reported that 70% of those who came down with 

#COvId19 symptoms had been wearing a mask. We know that 

masks don’t protect you… but at some point you have to wonder 

if they are PART of the problem. 
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57. Although Hart’s post stated a valid public health message, Twitter locked Hart’s 

account on or around July 18, 2021, after his post, with the following notice sent to his 

email: 

Hi Justin Hart,  

Your Account, @justin_hart has been locked for violating the Twitter 

Rules. 

Specifically for: Violating the policy on spreading misleading and potentially 

harmful information related to COVID-19. 

President Biden, the White House, and Surgeon General Murthy 

58. Within days of these two removals of Hart’s posts from the Internet, Defendant 

Biden’s administration revealed publicly that it was directing social media companies to 

remove posts that bucked their party line on COVID-19. 

59. On July 15, 2021, at a White House Press Conference, Defendant Surgeon General 

Murthy stated, “We’re asking [our technology companies] to consistently take action 

against misinformation super-spreaders on their platforms.”4 

60. The White House revealed that a team of government employees was actively 

researching and tracking social media posts with which it disagreed and relaying those 

posts to social media companies with instructions to take them down from the Internet. 

61. Former White House Press Secretary Jen Psaki admitted, “We’ve increased 

disinformation research and tracking within the Surgeon General’s office. We’re flagging 

problematic posts for Facebook that spread disinformation.”5 

62. Psaki also revealed that the White House effort to suppress free speech on the 

 
4 Vivek H. Murthy, White House Press Briefing (July 15, 2021), transcript available at 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/07/15/press-briefing-by-

press-secretary-jen-psaki-and-surgeon-general-dr-vivek-h-murthy-july-15-2021/ (last visited 

Aug. 18, 2021). 

5 Jen Psaki, White House Press Briefing (July 15, 2021), transcript available at 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/07/15/press-briefing-by-

press-secretary-jen-psaki-and-surgeon-general-dr-vivek-h-murthy-july-15-2021/ (last visited 

Aug. 18, 2021). 
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Internet that contradicted the government’s COVID-19 public health message reaches all 

the way to the level of senior staff for Defendant Biden’s administration. 

63. Psaki gave a glimpse of how the scheme works: “we are in regular touch with these 

social media platforms, and those engagements typically happen through members of our 

senior staff, but also members of our COVID-19 team . . . .”6 

64. Emails confirm Psaki’s public comments. For example, in February and March of 

2021, Facebook conducted a survey, shared its survey data with the CDC, and held 

meetings with government employees to discuss COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy on 

Facebook’s platform and the Internet. Attached as Exhibit 8 are true and correct copies of 

emails regarding this communication between Facebook and the CDC. 

65. Psaki further revealed in public comments that the far-reaching government effort 

targeted multiple posts on multiple social media sites and the Internet exclaiming, “You 

shouldn’t be banned from one platform and not others.”7 

66. Against United States policy as set forth by Congress “to preserve the vibrant and 

competitive free market that presently exists for the Internet” that is “unfettered by 

Federal or State regulation” 47 U.S.C. § 230(b)(2), Defendants Biden and Murthy directed 

four key changes for social media platforms and the Internet.  

67. First, Biden and Murthy directed that private companies “measure and publicly 

share the impact of misinformation on their platform.”8 

68. Second, Biden and Murthy directed social media companies to “create a robust 

enforcement strategy that bridges their properties and provides transparency about the 

rules.”9 

 
6 Id. 

7 Jen Psaki, White House Press Briefing (July 16, 2021), transcript available at 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/07/16/press-briefing-by-

press-secretary-jen-psaki-july-16-2021/ (last visited Aug. 18, 2021).  

8 Psaki, supra n. 3. 

9 Id. 
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69. Third, Biden and Murthy stressed that “it’s important to take faster action against 

harmful posts” because “information travels quite quickly on social media platforms; 

sometimes it’s not accurate. And Facebook needs to move more quickly to remove harmful, 

violative posts[.]”10 

70. Fourth, Biden and Murthy directed Facebook to “promote quality information in 

their feed algorithm.”11 No definition was provided by Biden and Murthy publicly as to the 

government’s definition of “quality information.”  

71. At the direction of Biden, Murthy created and published a 22-page Advisory with 

instructions on how social media companies should remove posts with which Murthy and 

Biden disagree.12 

72. Biden further threatened social media companies who do not comply with his 

directives by publicly shaming and humiliating them, stating, “They’re killing people.”13 

73. Emails between Facebook and the government confirm that Facebook had used its 

proprietary tool “CrowdTangle” to monitor and report on social media posts that 

contradicted the federal government’s COVID-19 message and shared such information 

with the government. Attached as Exhibit 9 are true and correct copies of emails 

regarding this communication between Facebook and the CDC regarding CrowdTangle 

reports. 

74. At the direction of the Federal Government Defendants Biden and Murthy, 

Facebook used CrowdTangle, along with social media algorithms designed to cast a wide 

net, to remove posts from the Internet that contradicted the government line on COVID-19, 

 
10 Id. 

11 Id. 

12 Vivek H. Murthy, Confronting Health Misinformation: The U.S. Surgeon General’s 

Advisory on Building a Healthy Information Environment (2021), available at 

https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/surgeon-general-misinformation-advisory.pdf (last 

visited Aug. 18, 2021). 

13 Lauren Egan, “They’re killing people”: Biden blames Facebook, other social media for 

allowing Covid misinformation, NBC News (July 16, 2021, 4:10 PM), available at 

https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/white-house/they-re-killing-people-biden-blames-

facebook-other-social-media-n1274232 (last visited Aug. 18, 2021). 
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regardless of whether such posts violated Facebook’s terms of service.  

75. For example, in April of 2021, the CDC’s Crawford and Facebook’s Iheme 

communicated via email that the Wyoming Public Health Department notified the federal 

government that Facebook’s and other platforms’ algorithms, intended to screen out 

COVID-19 “misinformation,” were also screening out “valid” public health messaging, 

including social media posts on the Internet by the Wyoming Public Health Department. 

Attached as Exhibit 10 is a true and correct copy of this email communication. 

76. Like the Wyoming Public Health Department’s valid public health message that 

was wrongfully removed from the Internet because of social media platforms’ adjusted 

algorithms, Hart’s public Facebook and Twitter posts in July of 2021 were valid public 

health messages wrongfully removed from the Internet by algorithms designed jointly by 

the Federal Government Defendants and the Social Media Defendants. 

77. Defendants Biden and Murthy directed Defendants Facebook and Twitter to design 

specific algorithms to identify and remove social media posts from the Internet that 

contradicted the federal government’s COVID-19 public health message and viewpoint. The 

Social Media Defendants substantially cooperated with the Federal Government 

Defendants’ request by designing algorithms that would target viewpoint messages and 

posts that contradicted the federal government’s COVID-19 public health viewpoint, 

resulting in Hart’s social media posts being removed from the Internet. 

78. On July 23, 2021, ten days after Facebook removed Hart’s valid public health 

message from Facebook’s platform and the Internet, Facebook employee Nick Clegg 

emailed Defendant Surgeon General Murthy. In the email, Clegg advised Murthy that 

Facebook had recently taken steps “to adjust policies on what we are removing for 

misinformation.” Attached as Exhibit 11 is a true and correct copy of this email 

communication. 

79. Clegg’s tone in his email to Surgeon General Murthy was defensive, and he stated, 

“We hear your call for us to do more and, as I said on the call, we’re committed to working 

toward our shared goal of helping America get on top of this pandemic.” Id. 
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80. Clegg continued with his defensive and submissive posture in his email to 

Defendant Murthy, and he said, “We will reach out directly to DJ to schedule the deeper 

dive on how to best measure Covid related content and how to proceed with the question 

around data.” Id. 

81. On information and belief, “DJ” is not employed by Facebook, does not have 

authority and control over Facebook’s misinformation policies and terms of service, and 

“DJ” operates under the authority and control of Murthy, the Executive Branch, and the 

federal government. 

82. Clegg further stated to Murthy, “We’d also like to begin a regular cadence of 

meetings with your team so that we can continue to update you on our progress.” Id. Clegg 

also noted to Surgeon General Murthy, “You have identified 4 specific recommendations for 

improvement, and we want to make sure to keep you informed of our work on each.” Id.  

83. On information and belief, these “4 specific recommendations for improvement” 

Clegg referred to in his email to Surgeon General Murthy are the same 4 Executive Branch 

policy recommendations Psaki stated in her July 16, 2021, press briefing. See supra, Psaki 

transcript, n.5. 

84. The following month, on August 20, 2021, Clegg sent Murthy a lengthy email 

because Surgeon General Murthy requested an update. Attached as Exhibit 12 is a true 

and correct copy of this email communication. 

85. In that email, Clegg stated to Defendant Murthy, “You asked for an update on 

existing and new steps Facebook is taking.” Clegg noted to date that Facebook had 

removed over 20 million pieces of content for COVID-related misinformation. Id.  

86. Clegg further stated to Murthy, “In light of our conversation we have been 

reviewing our efforts to combat COVID-19 and are eager to continue working toward our 

shared goal of helping more people get vaccinated and limiting the spread of harmful 

misinformation.” Id. 

Facebook 

87. Defendant Facebook is one of the most popular social media sites in the world. It 
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boasts “more than 2.8 billion monthly users worldwide,” who use it for both business and 

pleasure.14 Almost 70% of Americans use Facebook in some capacity.15 Of these users, 70% 

visit Facebook daily.16 

88. Facebook’s services involve creating a sort of personal website for its users who can 

post pictures of themselves and others, create posts on their wall where they can “debate 

religion and politics with their friends and neighbors or share vacation photos.” 

Packingham, 137 S. Ct. at 1735. These posts are published on the Internet and can also 

include links to news articles and videos. Other users can post comments on a user’s posts 

and thereby have a dialogue with one another. Users may also send each other direct 

messages through Facebook’s Messenger feature. 

89. Given this tremendous opportunity to network and speak with other people 

throughout the United States and even the world on the Internet, users frequently use 

Facebook to promote their business. “There are over 60 million active business [p]ages” on 

Facebook.17 Millions of businesses pay to be active advertisers.18 

90. Facebook’s hosting of advertisements is very lucrative for it. In 2018, it generated a 

total of $55.8 billion in revenue, 99% of which came from ads on Facebook and other 

platforms that it owns, such as Instagram.19 

91. On December 31, 2021, the same fiscal year when Facebook made its $15 million 

 
14 John Gramlich, 10 facts about Americans and Facebook, Pew Research Center (June 1, 

2021), available at https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/01/facts-about-

americans-and-facebook/) (last visited Aug. 18, 2021).  

15 Id.  

16 Id.  

17 Kit Smith, 53 Incredible Facebook Statistics and Facts, Brandwatch (June 1, 2019), 

available at https://www.brandwatch.com/blog/facebook-statistics/ (last visited Aug. 18, 

2021). 

18 Id.  

19 Erin Black, How Facebook makes money by targeting ads directly to you, CNBC (Apr. 2, 

2019), available at https://www.cnbc.com/2019/04/02/how-facebook-instagram-whatsapp-

and-messenger-make-

money.html?__source=facebook%7Cmain&fbclid=IwAR05sCPLjY61T3UOfYNvQQZwOiMY

64mJsnMQ0Lu4UNYqXkaXa1FUPpn1Huo (last visited Aug. 18, 2021). 
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free advertising donation to the Federal Government Defendants, Facebook filed its Form 

10K Annual Report with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).20 

92. In its 2021 filed Annual Report with the SEC, Facebook noted: “Substantially all of 

our revenue is currently generated from third parties advertising on Facebook and 

Instagram.”21 

93. Facebook’s terms of service invite businesses to use its services to “connect with 

[other people], build communities, and grow businesses.”22 Facebook describes its services 

as “[e]mpower[ing] you to express yourself and communicate about what matters to you.”23  

94. The terms of service require users to follow Facebook’s “Community Standards.”24 

Those standards state that Facebook is “a service for more than two billion people to freely 

express themselves across countries and cultures and in dozens of languages.”25 They go on 

to state, “To ensure that everyone’s voice is valued, we take great care to craft policies that 

are inclusive of different views and beliefs, in particular those of people and communities 

that might otherwise be overlooked or marginalized.”26  

95. The limits on this pro-free-speech stance include abstract categories such as 

“Violence and Criminal Behavior,” “Safety” (which includes “Suicide and Self-Injury,” 

“Child Sexual Exploitation, Abuse, and Nudity,” “Sexual Exploitation of Adults,” “Bullying 

and Harassment,” “Human Exploitation,” and “Privacy Violations and Image Privacy 

Rights”), “Objectionable Content” (which includes “Hate Speech,” “Violent and Graphic 

Content,” “Adult Nudity and Sexual Activity,” and “Sexual Solicitation”), “Integrity and 

 
20 https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1326801/000132680122000018/fb-20211231.htm 

(last visited Oct. 10, 2022). 

21 Id. at p. 15. 

22 Terms of Service, Facebook, available at https://www.facebook.com/terms.php (last 

revised Oct. 22, 2020) (last visited July 19, 2021).  

23 Id.  

24 Id.   

25 Community Standards, Facebook, available at 

https://www.facebook.com/communitystandards/ (last visited July 19, 2021).  

26 Id.  
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Authenticity,” (which includes “Account Integrity and Authentic Identity,” “Spam,” 

“Cybersecurity,” “Inauthentic Behavior,” “False News,” “Manipulated Media,” and 

“Memorialization”), and “Respecting Intellectual Property.” For the “False News” sub-

category, Facebook states that “we do not remove false news from Facebook but we 

significantly reduce its distribution by showing it lower in News Feed.”27 

96. At no point in the terms of service or Community Standards does Facebook prohibit 

valid public health messages and viewpoints that oppose making children wear masks, 

such as Hart’s posts.  

97. Further, at no point in the terms of service or Community Standards does Facebook 

mention that it would adjust its policies at or about the same time Hart posted on 

Facebook in July of 2021, and substantially cooperate with, and follow, Defendants Biden 

and Murthy’s “4 specific recommendations for improvement” Clegg referred to in his email 

to Surgeon General Murthy that Psaki mentioned in her July 16, 2021, press briefing. 

98. Facebook voluntarily commits itself to be governed by an Oversight Board, which is 

an independent non-Article III quasi-judicial board that interprets Facebook's content 

policies by reviewing content moderation decisions. 

99. For example, in March of 2021, shortly before Facebook removed Hart’s valid public 

health message, the Oversight Board “upheld Facebook’s decision to leave up a post by a 

state-level medical council in Brazil which claimed that lockdowns are ineffective and had 

been condemned by the World Health Organization (WHO).”28 

100. Hart is an executive consultant with over 25 years’ experience creating data-driven 

solutions for Fortune 500 companies and presidential campaigns alike. He is the Chief 

Data Analyst and founder of RationalGround.com, which helps companies, public policy 

officials, and parents gauge the impact of COVID-19 across the country.  

101. He has used Facebook’s services since 2007. He has roughly 1,700 Facebook users 

who follow his account, and roughly 3,000 Facebook friends.  

 
27 Id.  

28 https://www.oversightboard.com/decision/FB-B6NGYREK/ (last visited October 20, 2022). 
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102. He uses his Facebook account as a feeder for his other social media accounts, as a 

networking tool for his consulting business, and as a promotion for his online website, 

RationalGround.com, where he sells subscriptions to his articles and research on COVID-

19 and the government’s response to it. 

103. Given Hart’s use of Facebook for his business, he has purchased advertising on 

Facebook to promote his consulting business. Over the years, Hart has spent thousands of 

dollars on Facebook advertisements and has never been gifted free advertisement from 

Facebook as it gifted the Federal Government Defendants. 

104. Hart has also purchased advertising for his consulting clients over the years, 

spending tens of thousands of dollars.  

105. On his website RationalGround.com Hart offers some of his articles exclusively to 

subscribers. His subscriptions generate thousands of dollars per month. 

106. On April 23, 2021, Facebook restricted Hart’s ability to post or comment for 24 

hours because it claimed the following three posts violated its Community Standards:   

a. On or around April 14, 2021, Hart created a post on Facebook 

stating, “If you ever want to know where your BLM donation is going – the co-

founder ‘trained Marxist’ Patrisee Cullars – just bought this amazing home in 

LA” and it included a link to a picture of the house.  

 

b. That same day, a second post of his was removed from Facebook. 

 

c. On April 23, 2021, he created a post stating: “This is the truth: 

Covid is almost gone in America. Hospitals are literally empty. Every willing 

senior has already been vaccinated. In a few weeks every willing adult can be… 

 

107. Losing the ability to connect with people on the Internet through his Facebook 

account has harmed Hart’s online business and work to help educate and provide 

information to others. He is also suffering injury because he serves as the administrator of 

at least one of his client’s Facebook pages. While Hart’s personal account is suspended, he 

cannot service this account.  

108. Facebook’s policies and standards for censorship on its platform and the Internet 

are constantly shifting and adjusting in accordance with Defendants Biden and Murthy’s 
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direction on COVID-19 “misinformation” and the federal government’s pre-approved public 

health message and views allowed on the Internet. 

109. For example, since early 2020, there has been widespread debate over whether 

COVID-19 was made by humans in a lab in Wuhan, China, and escaped from the lab or 

whether it started naturally through animal-to-human transmission.  

110. Despite this public health debate, in February 2020, Facebook announced it would 

remove posts that suggested the virus was man-made, stating that the theory had been 

debunked by public health officials.29  

111. But in May 2021, after Defendant Biden acknowledged the possibility of the 

theory, Facebook adjusted and reversed its policy to align with Biden’s view and announced 

that it would no longer remove posts expressing that viewpoint.30 Therefore, Facebook is 

stifling the free debate of scientific theories and valide public health messages on the 

Internet such as Hart’s by taking its directions from the Federal Government Defendants. 

Twitter 

112. Defendant Twitter is also a popular social media site; more than one in five adult 

Americans use the platform.31 Of these users, 46% visit Twitter daily.32 

113. Twitter’s services involve creating a personal profile from which its users can 

“tweet”—meaning post messages, photos, and weblinks to their feed for other users to see. 

Users can “like”, repost, or reply to other users’ tweets. 

 
29 Peter Suciu, Social Media About Face: Facebook Won’t Remove Claims Covid Was Man-

Made, Forbes (May 28, 2021, 3:39 PM), available at  

https://www.forbes.com/sites/petersuciu/2021/05/28/social-media-about-face-facebook-wont-

remove-claims-covid-was-man-made/?sh=d21e05c6aa1a (last visited Aug. 18, 2021). 
30 Donie O’Sullivan & Jordan Valinsky, Facebook will no longer remove claims that Covid-

19 was man-made, CNN Business (May 27, 2021, 12:16 PM), available at  

https://www.cnn.com/2021/05/27/tech/facebook-covid-19-origin-claims-removal/index.html 

(last visited Aug.18, 2021). 

31 Brooke Auxier & Monica Anderson, Social Media Use in 2021, Pew Research Center (Apr. 

7, 2021), available at https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2021/04/07/social-media-use-in-

2021/ (last visited July 19, 2021). 

32 Id.  
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114. Twitter allows users to have a dialogue on a variety of issues, including topics of 

national importance. 42% of U.S. adults on Twitter say they use the site to discuss 

politics.33 Twitter is known for being “one of the social media sites with the most news-

focused users.”34 71% of adult Twitter users in the U.S. use the site to get news.35 

115. “The Twitter Rules” proclaim that “Twitter’s purpose is to serve the public 

conversation.”36 

116. The limitations on that “public conversation” include tweets that threaten or 

glorify violence or terrorism, sexually exploit children, abuse or harass other people, 

promote self-harm or suicide, show excessively gory media or adult content within live 

videos or profile photos, or serve any unlawful purpose.37  

117. At no point in the terms of service or Twitter Rules does Twitter prohibit valid 

public health messages and viewpoints that oppose wearing masks. Nor do the terms of 

service or Twitter Rules state that Twitter would have regular BOLO meetings with the 

Federal Government Defendants to get instruction and direction on COVID-19 

“misinformation.” 

118. Hart has used Twitter’s services since 2007. 

119. He uses his Twitter account as a feeder for his other social media accounts, as a 

networking tool for his consulting business, and to promote his website 

RationalGround.com, where he sells subscriptions to his articles and research on COVID-

19 and the government’s response to it. 

 
33 Adam Hughes & Stefan Wojcik, 10 facts about Americans and Twitter, Pew Research 

Center (Aug. 2, 2019), available at https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/08/02/10-

facts-about-americans-and-twitter/ (last visited July 19, 2021).  

34 Id.  

35 Id.  

36 The Twitter Rules, Twitter, available at https://help.twitter.com/en/rules-and-

policies/twitter-rules (last visited Aug. 19, 2021). 
37 Id.  
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120. Hart has purchased ads on Twitter to promote his consulting business. Over the 

years, he has spent thousands of dollars on Twitter ads. Hart planned to increase his use of 

Twitter advertising, but Twitter has denied him the ability to do so.  

121. Losing the ability to communicate with people through his Twitter account has 

harmed his online business.  

Missouri v. Biden 

122. There is a similar pending case to this case, State of Missouri v. Biden, Case No. 

3:22-cv-01213-TAD-KDM, in the United States District Court for the Western District of 

Louisiana, Monroe Division.  

123. On October 21, 2022, that court issued a 28-page Memorandum Order Regarding 

Witness Depositions (“Order”). A copy of the Order is attached as Exhibit 13. 

124. In the Order, District Judge Terry A. Doughty explained that plaintiffs’ claims 

involve allegations of collusion between the federal government and private social media 

companies to suppress disfavored views and content on social media platforms by labeling 

such content “dis-information,” “mis-information,” and “mal-information.”  

125. The court further determined that expedited discovery and depositions were 

appropriate for 10 witnesses. Three of the witnesses to be deposed as set forth in the Order 

are either parties in this case or play a prominent role in the allegations of this case.  

126. The three individuals and witnesses relevant to this case with Judge Doughty’s 

analysis as to why they should submit to depositions and expedited discovery in State of 

Missouri v. Biden are as follows: 

• Jennifer Psaki – Former White House Press Secretary 

127. The Missouri court noted that Psaki had made a series of public statements at 

press conferences in her former role as Press Secretary.  

128. Judge Doughty found that Psaki had publicly spoken of pressuring social media 

companies to censor disfavored views related to COVID-19 misinformation.  

129. In ordering her to submit to a deposition, the Court found that “Psaki has made a 

number of statements that are relevant to the Government’s involvement in a number of 
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social-media platforms’ efforts to censor its users across the board for sharing information 

related to COVID-19.”  

• Dr. Vivek Murthy – Surgeon General 

130. The court found that Dr. Murthy, a named defendant in this case, had publicly 

criticized “tech companies” by asserting that they are responsible for COVID-19 deaths due 

to their failure to censor “misinformation.”  

131. And that Murthy also engaged in communications with high-level Facebook 

executives about the “demand” for greater censorship of COVID-19 “misinformation.”  

132. Judge Doughty determined that Murthy’s actions went beyond the scope of his 

rank as Surgeon General. In ordering his deposition, the court found that “Dr. Murthy 

made public statements about how the [social] media companies’ failure to censor its users 

resulted in COVID-19 deaths.”  

• Carol Y. Crawford – CDC’s Chief of the Digital Media Branch 

133. The court addressed Crawford’s organization of the BOLO meetings referenced 

above, which were essentially meetings that attempted to “quell the spread of 

misinformation” related to COVID-19.  

134. In ordering her deposition, the court found that “Crawford organized meetings and 

engaged in a number of communications with social-media officials, and the contents of 

those meetings and communications are highly important for the issues presented by this 

case.” 

135. On November 15, 2022, Crawford submitted to a video deposition. A copy of the 

Crawford deposition transcript is attached as Exhibit 14. 

136. In her deposition, Crawford testified that the federal government had insinuated 

itself into a position of interdependence with the Social Media Defendants by holding 

regular BOLO meetings to assist them with implementing their misinformation policies on 

their private platforms and the Internet.  

137. For example, Crawford explained this interdependence between the federal 

government and Social Media Defendants in her deposition as follows: 
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Q; What’s BOLO?  
 
A: Be on the lookout.  
 
Q. Why were you concerned about this?  
 
A. Similar to all the other BOLOs, we still thought it was good to point out if we had facts 
around something that was widely circulating as a cause of misinformation to the 
platforms to assist them in whatever they were going to do with their policy or not do. And 
this was one that was kind of growing, and we had a lot of facts about it, and the team was 
concerned about this, this misunderstanding.  
 
Crawford Depo., Exhibit 14, p. 153-54, Lines 20-26. 
 

138. In addition to the three individuals above named in the Order in Missouri v. Biden, 

emails were produced in discovery in that case from federal government employee Rob 

Flaherty to anonoymous Facebook officials. Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 are the 

Flaherty emails in and around March of 2021. 

139. The Flaherty emails were not produced by the federal government to Hart in this 

case pursuant to his FOIA claim. 

140. The Flaherty emails’ subject line is, “You are hiding the ball.” The Flaherty emails 

may be summarized as Flaherty dressing down and admonishing a Facebook official for the 

private social media company’s lack of transparency to the federal government regarding 

vaccine hesitancy and borderline content misinformation allowed to be posted on 

Facebook’s platform. 

141. For example, on March 15, 2021, Flaherty writes to this Facebook official and says, 

“I will also be the first to acknowledge that borderline content offers no easy solutions. But 

we want to know that you are trying, we want to know how we can help, and we want to 

know that you are not playing a shell game with us when we ask you what is going on.” 

142. And the anononymous Facebook official responds on behalf of the private social 

media company by groveling and asking Flaherty to hold Facebook “accountable.” 

143. For example, on March 15, 2021, the anonymous Facebook official responds to 

Flaherty and says, “We obviously have work to do to gain your trust. You mention that you 

are not trying to play “gotcha” with us – I appreciate the approach you are taking to 

continued discussions. We are also working to get you useful information that’s on the 
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level. That’s my job and I take it seriously – I’ll continue to do it to the best of my ability, 

and I’ll expect you to hold me accountable.” 

The Federal Defendants Engaged in Illegal Jawboning 

144. It was not essential for him to perform his duties and make decisions as President 

of the United States for Biden to direct the Social Media Defendants to employ his 4 

recommendations for improvement; design algorithms to target opposing views of the 

government’s COVID-19 message on the Internet; declare publicly they were “killing 

people;” and to adjust their misinformation policies related to COVID-19. 

145.  Rather, the desired effect of his actions was a censorship scheme designed to 

threaten and intimidate the Social Media Defendants so they would censor their users’ 

speech that was in opposition to the federal government’s message on COVID-19. 

146. It was not essential for him to perform his duties and make decisions as Surgeon 

General for Murthy to engage in communications with high-level Facebook executives and 

demand greater censorship of COVID-19 “misinformation;” direct the Social Media 

Defendants to employ the 4 recommendations for improvement; design algorithms to target 

opposing views of the government’s COVID-19 message on the Internet; and to adjust their 

misinformation policies related to COVID-19. 

147. Rather, the desired effect of his actions was a censorship scheme designed to 

threaten and intimidate the Social Media Defendants so they would censor their users’ 

speech that was in opposition to the federal government’s message on COVID-19. 

148. It was not essential for her to perform her duties and make decisions on behalf of 

the CDC for Crawford to conduct regular BOLO meetings with the Social Media 

Defendants to assist them with their misinformation policies related to COVID-19; and to 

negotiate with Facebook for the federal government to receive a $15 million advertising 

credit to promote its COVID-19 message on Facebook’s platform that accesses the Internet. 

149. Rather, the desired effect of her actions was a censorship scheme designed to 

threaten and intimidate the Social Media Defendants so they would censor their users’ 

speech that was in opposition to the federal government’s message on COVID-19. 
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150. It was not essential for him to perform his duties and make decisions on behalf of 

the White House for Flaherty to admonish an anonymous Facebook official and demand 

greater transparency from Facebook and to hold it accountable for COVID-19 “borderline 

content information” as he defined it that in his view was being posted to Facebook’s 

private platform and on the Internet. 

151. Rather, the desired effect of his actions was a censorship scheme designed to 

threaten and intimidate Facebook so it would censor its users’ speech that was in 

opposition to the federal government’s message on COVID-19. 

Elon Musk’s public release of the Twitter Files 

152. After purchasing and taking control of Twitter in late Fall of 2022 and firing most 

of its upper level management and many employees, Elon Musk released a number of 

internal Twitter documents to various journalists. Referred to as the “Twitter Files,” they 

were then released to the public and were summarized into 15 Parts.38 

153. In Part 10 of the summary of the Twitter Files, it was revealed that the United 

States government pressured Twitter and other social media platforms to elevate certain 

content and suppress other content about COVID-19. 

154. The Twitter Files revealed three serious problems with Twitter’s process related to 

moderating COVID-19 “misinformation:”39 

o First, much of the content moderation was conducted by bots, trained on 

machine learning and AI—impressive in their engineering, yet still too 

crude for such nuanced work. 

o Second, contractors, in places like the Philippines, also moderated content. 

They were given decision trees to aid in the process, but tasking non 

experts to adjudicate tweets on complex topics like myocarditis and mask 

efficacy data was destined for a significant error rate. 

o Third, most importantly, the buck stopped with higher level employees at 

Twitter who chose the inputs for the bots and decision trees, and 

 
38 See The Twitter Files Parts 1-15: A Comprehensive Summary, Analysis, and Discussion of 

Ramifications for American Institutions (updated 1.19.23) – Stopping Socialism, available at 

https://stoppingsocialism.com/2023/01/the-twitter-files-comprehensive-summary-analysis-

and-discussion-of-ramifications-for-american-institutions/ 

39 See id at Part 10. 
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subjectively decided escalated cases and suspensions. As it is with all 

people and institutions, there was individual and collective bias. With 

Covid, this bias bent heavily toward establishment dogmas. 

155. And the Twitter Files revealed that on September 3, 2021, former FDA 

commissioner and Pfizer board member Dr. Scott Gottlieb, contacted Todd O’Boyle, a top 

lobbyist in Twitter’s Washington office and the White House’s Twitter point of contact. 

Gottlieb complained to O’Boyle about a tweet from Justin Hart, known to be a “lockdown 

and Covid vaccine skeptic with more than 100,000 Twitter followers.”40 

COUNT I – Free Speech 

Murthy, Biden, Crawford, Flaherty, Facebook, and Twitter violated the Free 

Speech clause of the First Amendment when they acted jointly to remove Hart’s 

social media posts from the Internet and block him from using his accounts. 

156.  The allegations in the preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

157. “The First Amendment is a kind of Equal Protection Clause for ideas.” Barr v. Am. 

Ass’n of Political Consultants, 140 S. Ct. 2335, 2354 (2020) (plurality). A government 

violates this promise of equal treatment for ideas when it engages in viewpoint 

discrimination. Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 819.  

158.  Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty knowingly engaged in viewpoint 

discrimination when they directed Facebook and Twitter to remove from the Internet social 

media posts and valid public health messages like those of Hart’s that contained a 

viewpoint on COVID-19 that did not fit with their own political public health narrative.  

159.  Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty further knowingly engaged in viewpoint 

discrimination against Hart when they and Executive Branch officials (1) directed 

Facebook and Twitter representatives to employ the federal government’s “4 specific 

recommendations for improvement;” (2) held BOLO meetings with Facebook and Twitter 

representatives to target opposing public health messages on the Internet; (3) directed the 

Social Media Defendants to design algorithms to specifically target valid public health 

messages on the Internet opposing the government’s COVID-19 views resulting in 20 

 
40 See id. at Part 13. 
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million pieces of content being removed from platforms and the Internet, including Hart’s 

valid public health messages; (4) directed Facebook to adjust its policies regarding COVID-

19 “misinformation” on the Internet at or about the time of Hart’s valid public health 

message; and (5) negotiated and received a $15 million advertising credit from Facebook to 

advertise the government’s unchallenged COVID-19 public health message on the Internet 

shortly before Hart’s valid public messages were removed.  

160.  Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty’s unconstitutional viewpoint 

discrimination acts that deprived Hart of his First Amendment rights were further 

contrary to the policy of the United States “to preserve the vibrant and competitive free 

market that presently exists for the Internet” that is “unfettered by Federal or State 

regulation.” 47 U.S.C. § 230(b)(2). 

161. Private companies engage in state action when they jointly work with government 

officials to deprive individuals of their constitutional rights. Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 

457 U.S. 922, 942 (1982). 

162. “The Supreme Court has articulated four tests for determining whether a non-

governmental person’s actions amount to state action: (1) the public function test; (2) the 

joint action test; (3) the state compulsion test; and (4) the governmental nexus test.” Ohno, 

723 F.3d at 995. 

163. “Joint action exists where the government affirms, authorizes, encourages, or 

facilitates unconstitutional conduct through its involvement with a private party.” Id. at 

996. 

164. The Ninth Circuit finds joint action when “state officials and private parties have 

acted in concert in effecting a particular deprivation of constitutional rights.” Tsao v. 

Desert Palace, Inc., 698 F.3d 1128, 1140 (9th Cir. 2012) (cleaned up). “This requirement can 

be satisfied either by proving the existence of a conspiracy or by showing that the private 

party was a willful participant in joint action with the State or its agents.” Id.   
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165. And threats from government officials that amount to a censorship scheme violate 

the First Amendment. See Bantam Books, 372 U.S. at 64; Writers Guild of America, 609 F. 

2d at 365. 

166. “Particularly relevant here is the maxim that if the state knowingly accepts the 

benefits derived from unconstitutional behavior, then the conduct can be treated as state 

action.” Tsao,  698 F.3d at 1140.  

167. Facebook and Twitter engaged in state action when they removed valid public 

health messages and posts like Hart’s from their platforms and the Internet at the request 

of Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty based on the viewpoint of those posts on COVID-

19 that differed from the public health message of the federal government. 

168. Facebook and Twitter worked in concert, substantially cooperated with, and/or 

conspired with Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty to deprive Hart of his First 

Amendment right to free speech to post valid public health messages on the Internet. 

169. Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty affirmed, authorized, encouraged, and/or 

facilitated Facebook and Twitter’s unconstitutional conduct of censorship of Hart’s posts 

and valid public health messages on the Internet. 

170. Facebook and Twitter either were willful participants when they removed Hart’s 

posts from the Internet based on his viewpoint at the direction of Murthy, Biden, Crawford, 

and Flaherty or were subject to government compulsion, either of which makes the removal 

of the posts state action and transforms Facebook and Twitter into state actors. 

171. Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty knowingly accepted the benefits of 

censored speech derived from the unconstitutional behavior of Facebook and Twitter in 

removing posts from the Internet based on a valid COVID-19 public health viewpoint with 

which Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty disagreed.  

172. Further, Murthy, Biden, Crawford, Flaherty, and Executive Branch officials 

knowingly accepted the benefits of $15 million in advertising credit from Facebook to 

promote the federal government’s unchallenged public health COVID-19 viewpoint and 
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message on the Internet, a public forum Congress intended to be a marketplace of ideas 

free from government regulation. 

173. Although Hart remains active on Facebook and Twitter in an attempt to rebuild 

his brand and continue to post valid public health messages, Facebook and Twitter now 

require that Hart and other users in the future express a government-approved viewpoint 

to use their platforms that reach the Internet and that are subject to the COVID-19 public 

health policies and control of the federal government, and such posts that reach the 

Internet are no longer subject to the Social Media Defendants’ policies. 

174. Further, Facebook adjusts and deviates from its voluntary submission to its 

independent Oversight Board on COVID-19 public health misinformation and instead 

follows the direction of Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty’s recommendations. 

175. Hart is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief against Murthy, Biden, 

Crawford, and Flaherty for violating his right to free speech on the Internet under the 

First Amendment and to stop them from directing Facebook and Twitter to utilize the 

federal government’s policies on what constitutes COVID-19 “misinformation” on their 

platforms and Internet. 

176. Hart is entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief as well as compensatory and 

nominal damages from Facebook and Twitter for violating his right to free speech on the 

Internet under the First Amendment and to stop them from adjusting their algorithms and 

policies to align with the federal government’s COVID-19 “misinformation” policies. 

COUNT II - Promissory Estoppel 

Facebook and Twitter committed promissory estoppel by not fulfilling their 

promise to Hart to use their social media platforms to reach an audience on the 

Internet in furtherance of his business. 

177.  The allegations in the preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

178.  Facebook and Twitter made “a clear and unambiguous promise” to Hart that he 

could use their services to communicate and network with other Facebook and Twitter 
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users on the Internet. Bushell v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 163 Cal. Rptr. 3d 539, 550 

(Cal. Ct. App. 2013). 

179.  In making this promise, Facebook and Twitter did not include a provision that 

they would censor speech on the Internet opposing masks at the direction of the federal 

government.  

180.  Hart engaged in “reasonable, foreseeable and detrimental reliance” on Facebook’s 

and Twitter’s promise when he started using their services to speak with and network with 

other Facebook and Twitter users on the Internet to promote his business. Bushell, 163 

Cal. Rptr. 3d at 550. 

181. Hart engaged in “reasonable, foreseeable and detrimental reliance” on Facebook’s 

promise when he invested substantial sums of money to advertise on Facebook and Twitter 

and their platforms that reach an audience on the Internet. Id.  

182.  Facebook’s and Twitter’s removal from the Internet and flagging of Hart’s posts 

and suspension of his account for engaging in speech caused his reliance on their promises 

to be to the detriment of his business, finances, and reputation. 

183. As the result of this detrimental reliance, Hart suffered monetary and non-

monetary damages. 

184. Hart is entitled to monetary relief from Facebook and Twitter for committing the 

tort of promissory estoppel. 

COUNT III - Intentional Interference with a Contract 

Facebook committed intentional interference with a contract by interfering with 

Hart’s contract with Donorbureau, LLC. 

185. The allegations in the preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

186. To establish a claim of intentional interference with a contractual relationship, the 

claimant must show (1) a valid contract between claimant and a third party; (2) defendant’s 

knowledge of this contract; (3) defendant’s intentional acts designed to induce a breach or 

disruption of the contractual relationship; (4) actual breach or disruption of the contractual 
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relationship; and (5) resulting damage. Davis v. Nadrich, 94 Cal. Rptr. 3d 414, 421 (Cal. Ct. 

App. 2009).  

187.  California law does not require that the defendant act with the specific intent to 

interfere. See id. at 422; Quelimane Co. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co., 960 P.2d 513 (1998). 

The tort is applicable if the defendant knows that the interference is substantially certain or 

certain to happen as a result of defendant’s actions. Nadrich, 94 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 422. 

188.  Hart maintains a valid employment contract with Donorbureau, LLC 

(“Donorbureau”), a Virginia-based limited liability company.  

189.  As part of his employment contract, Hart’s job duties include serving as an 

Administrator on the Donorbureau Facebook account, so he can post content to the site and 

make other changes in an effort to increase Donorbureau’s revenue. 

190. Facebook has knowledge of the relationship between Hart and Donorbureau because 

it has actual notice that Hart serves as an Administrator for the Donorbureau account. 

191. Facebook intentionally suspended Hart’s use of his personal Facebook account and 

removed his posts from the Internet, and Facebook knew and intended that such action 

would prevent Hart from doing his work as an Administrator on the Donorbureau account. 

192. Therefore, Facebook intentionally interfered with Hart’s contract with Donorbureau. 

193. Not being able to service Donorbureau’s Facebook page placed Hart in breach of his 

contract with Donorbureau. 

194. Hart suffered and is suffering monetary damage for not being able to fulfill his social 

media duties to Donorbureau. 

195. Hart is entitled to monetary relief from Facebook for intentionally interfering with 

his contract with Donorbureau. 

COUNT IV - Negligent Interference with a Prospective Economic Advantage 

Facebook committed negligent interference with a prospective economic 

advantage by interfering with Hart’s contract with Donorbureau, LLC. 

196. The allegations in the preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 
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197. To establish a claim of negligent interference with a prospective economic 

advantage, a claimant must show (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship 

between the plaintiff and a third party containing the probability of future economic 

benefit to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant’s knowledge, actual or construed, of the 

relationship; (3) the defendant’s knowledge, actual or construed, that the relationship 

would be disrupted if the defendant failed to act with reasonable care; (4) the defendant’s 

failure to act with reasonable care; (5) actual disruption of the relationship; and (6) 

resulting economic harm. Nelson v. Tucker Ellis, LLP, 262 Cal. Rptr. 3d 250, 264 n.5 (Cal. 

App. Ct. 2020). 

198. Hart maintains a valid employment contract with Donorbureau, LLC, a Virginia-

based limited liability company.  

199. As part of his employment contract, Hart’s job duties include serving as an 

Administrator on the Donorbureau Facebook account, so he can post content to the site and 

make other changes in an effort to increase Donorbureau’s revenue. 

200. Hart has a probability of future economic benefit by fulfilling the terms of his 

employment contract with Donorbureau. 

201. Facebook has knowledge of the relationship between Hart and Donorbureau 

because it has actual notice that Hart serves as an Administrator for the Donorbureau 

account. 

202. When Facebook suspended Hart’s use of his personal Facebook account and 

removed his posts from the Internet, it knew or should have known that Hart’s work as an 

Administrator on the Donorbureau account and his relationship with Donorbureau would 

be disrupted as a result of its negligent actions.  

203. In not providing Hart any avenue to access the Donorbureau account, Facebook 

failed to act with reasonable care. 

204. Facebook’s act of suspension caused an actual disruption in the relationship 

between Hart and Donorbureau because he could not post content to the site or on the 

Internet or make other changes in his work to increase Donorbureau’s revenue. 
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205. Therefore, Facebook negligently interfered with Hart’s prospective economic 

advantage from his contractual relationship with Donorbureau. 

206. Hart suffered and is suffering monetary damage for not being able to fulfill his 

social media duties to Donorbureau. 

207. Hart is entitled to monetary relief from Facebook for negligently interfering with 

the prospective economic advantage resulting from his contract with Donorbureau. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiff Justin Hart respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in his favor 

on every claim set forth above and award him the following relief:  

A. Declare that the actions of Murthy, Biden, Crawford, Flaherty, Facebook, and 

Twitter constitute a violation of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment by 

denying Hart the ability to speak on the Internet through the private social media 

platforms of Facebook and Twitter; 

B. Enjoin Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty from directing in the future social 

media companies such as the Social Media Defendants to censor information and speech on 

platforms and the Internet with which Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty disagree; 

C. Enjoin Facebook and Twitter from removing in the future Hart’s posts from the 

Internet or suspending his posts at the direction of Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty 

or based on the federal government’s “misinformation” policies; 

D. Enjoin Murthy, Biden, Crawford, and Flaherty from directing social media companies 

such as the Social Media Defendants from censoring speech in the future; 

E. Award Hart compensatory damages in the amount of his past, present, and future 

lost income resulting from Facebook’s and Twitter’s actions of promissory estoppel and 

resulting from Facebook’s intentional interference with a contract and negligent 

interference with a prospective economic advantage; 

F. Award Hart compensatory damages in the amount of a return of the money he spent 

on Facebook and Twitter advertisements because of Facebook’s and Twitter’s actions of 
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promissory estoppel and Facebook’s intentional interference with a contract and negligent 

interference with a prospective economic advantage; 

G. Award Hart compensatory damages in an amount to fully compensate him for the 

time he spent building a following on the Internet through Facebook and Twitter that has 

now been wasted by Facebook’s and Twitter’s actions of promissory estoppel and 

Facebook’s intentional interference with a contract and negligent interference with a 

prospective economic advantage; 

H. Award Hart compensatory damages in the amount of the harm to his reputation on 

the Internet resulting from Facebook’s and Twitter’s actions of promissory estoppel and 

resulting from Facebook’s intentional interference with a contract and negligent 

interference with a prospective economic advantage; and  

I.  Award any further relief to which Hart may be entitled, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and costs.  

 

Dated: February 15, 2023  Respectfully submitted, 

s/ Daniel Suhr_________                              

      Daniel Suhr, pro hac vice admitted  

      dsuhr@libertyjusticecenter.org  

      M.E. Buck Dougherty III, pro hac vice admitted  

      bdougherty@libertyjusticecenter.org  

      James McQuaid, pro hac vice admitted  

      jmcquaid@libertyjusticecenter.org  

      LIBERTY JUSTICE CENTER 

      440 N. Wells Street, Suite 200  

      Chicago, Illinois 60654  

      Telephone: 312-637-2280  

      Facsimile: 312-263-7702  
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Rapid COVID-19 State of Vaccine Confidence Insights Report
April 13-15, 2021 I Recommendation to Pause Use of Johnson & Johnson's Janssen COVID-19 Vaccine

Appendix: Inputs and Sources
The Rapid COVID-1 9 State of Vaccine Confidence Insights Report collected and synthesized data from over 15 data streams to
distill patterns of consumer, provider, and state and jurisdiction questions, comments, and concerns about the recommendation
to pause use of the J&J COVID-19 Vaccine.

Input Sources Tactics for Utilization

Meltwater • Facebook, Twitter, lnstagram
• Blogs
• News media
• Online forums

• Conduct share of voice topic analysis
• Identify emerging topic themes
• Detect high reach and high velocity topics

OADC Channel Comment Analysis • Native platform searches • Conduct sentiment analysis
• Recognize message gaps and information
voids

CrowdTangle • Facebook • View top pages (voices) and top groups
• General trends/sentiment analysis
• Examine news analysis through posts

FEMA Social Listening Report • Hootsuite
• Brandwatch
• CrowdTangle
• Meltwater

• Identify trends
• Conduct sentiment analysis
• Examine national and global news analysis

CDC-INFO Metrics • CDC-INFO inquiry line list
• Prepared response (PR) usage report

• Compare PR usage report with inquiry theme
analysis

• Recognize message gaps and information
voidss

Poll Review • Harris Poll, PEW Research, Gallup Poll, KFF, de
Beaumont

• New, emerging poll data sources (e.g., YouGov
polling data)

• Identify socio-behavior indicators related to
motivation and intention to vaccinate

Page: 8
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

MONROE DIVISION 
 

 
STATE OF MISSOURI ET AL 
 

CASE NO.  3:22-CV-01213 

VERSUS 
 

JUDGE TERRY A. DOUGHTY 

JOSEPH R BIDEN JR ET AL MAG. JUDGE KAYLA D. MCCLUSKY 
 

MEMORANDUM ORDER 
REGARDING WITNESS DEPOSITIONS 

 
 This Court granted [Doc. No. 34] Plaintiffs’ Motion for Expedited Preliminary Injunction-

Related Discovery [Doc. No. 17] and set an expedited discovery schedule.  The discovery schedule 

required the parties to meet and confer in good faith regarding any deposition requests.  The parties 

were required to file a joint statement as to their position on depositions if they could not come to 

an agreement.  The parties have done so and have submitted the pending Joint Statement Regarding 

Witness Depositions [Doc. No. 86].  This ruling addresses the witness depositions. 

I. BACKGROUND 

 On May 5, 2022, Plaintiffs1 filed a Complaint2 against Defendants.3  In the Complaint and 

Amended Complaint,4 Plaintiffs allege Defendants have colluded with and/or coerced social media 

companies to suppress disfavored speakers, viewpoints, and content on social media platforms by 

labeling the content “dis-information,” “mis-information,” and “mal-information.”  Plaintiffs 

 
1 Plaintiffs consist of the State of Missouri, the State of Louisiana, Dr. Aaron Kheriaty, Dr. Martin Kulldorff, Jim 
Hoft, Dr. Jayanta Bhattacharya, and Jill Hines. 
2 [Doc. No. 1] 
3 Defendants consist of President Joseph R. Biden, Jr., Vivek H. Murthy, Xavier Becerra, Department of Health and 
Human Services, Dr. Anthony Fauci, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Centers for Disease 
Control & Prevention, Alejandro Mayorkas, Department of Homeland Security, Jen Easterly, Cybersecurity & 
Infrastructure Security Agency, and Nina Jankowicz, Karine Jean-Pierre, Carol Y. Crawford, Jennifer Shopkorn, 
U.S. Census Bureau, U. S. Department of Commerce, Robert Silvers, Samantha Vinograd 
and Gina McCarthy. 
4 [Doc. No. 45] 
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2 
 

allege the suppression of disfavored speakers, viewpoints, and contents constitutes government 

action and violates Plaintiffs’ freedom of speech in violation of the First Amendment to the United 

States Constitution.  In the Complaint5 and Amended Complaint6 Plaintiffs set forth examples of 

suppression of free speech which include: 1) the Hunter Biden laptop story prior to the 2020 

Presidential election; 2) speech about the lab leak theory of COVID-19’s origin; 3) speech about 

the efficiency of masks and COVID-19 lockdowns; 4) speech about election integrity and the 

security of voting by mail; 5) censorship and suppression of speech by Plaintiffs Dr. Jayanta 

Bhattacharya and Dr. Aaron Kheriaty, co-authors of the Great Barrington Declaration; 6) 

censorship and suppression of Jim Hoft, owner of The Gateway Pundit, on social-media platforms; 

and 7) censorship and suppression of Jill Hines, co-director of Health Freedom Louisiana and 

Reopen Louisiana on social-media platforms.  

Plaintiffs move for the following government officials to be deposed as a part of their 

limited preliminary injunction discovery. These are: 

(1) NIAID Director and White House Chief Medical Advisor Dr. 
Anthony Fauci, (2) Deputy Assistant to the President and Director 
of White House Digital Strategy Rob Flaherty, (3) former White 
House Senior COVID-19 Advisory Andrew Slavitt, (4) former 
White House Press Secretary Jennifer Psaki, (5) FBI Supervisory 
Special Agent Elvis Chan, (6) CISA Director Jen Easterly, (7) CISA 
official Lauren Protentis, (8) Surgeon General Vivek Murthy, (9) 
CDC Chief of the Digital Media Branch Carol Crawford, and (10) 
Acting Coordinator of the State Department’s Global Engagement 
Center Daniel Kimmage. 

 
Defendants oppose Plaintiffs’ deposing of all of them.  

 

 

 
5 [Doc. No. 1] 
6 [Doc. No. 45] 
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II. APPLICABLE LAW  

 Expedited discovery is not the norm.  Courts only allow it in limited circumstances.  Wilson 

v. Samson Contour Energy E&P, LLC, 2014 WL 2949457 at 2 (W.D. La. 2014).  In the prior 

ruling,7 which granted in part and denied in part Plaintiffs’ request for expedited discovery, the 

Court employed a “good cause” analysis, which took into consideration such factors as the breadth 

of discovery requests, the purpose for requesting expedited discovery, the burden on the defendants 

to comply with the requests, and how far in advance of the typical discovery process the request 

was made.   GHX Industrial, LLC v. Servco Hose and Supply, LLC, 2020 WL 1492920 (W.D. La. 

Feb. 5, 2020). 

 In addressing the necessity of depositions, the Court previously stated, “whether 

depositions will be taken will be addressed later.”8  The party seeking expedited discovery has the 

burden of establishing that “the scope of the requests” is narrowly tailored to the necessary 

information sought.9  The Court must also consider the “burden on the defendants to comply with 

the requests.”10 

 Top executive department officials should not, absent extraordinary circumstances, be 

called to testify regarding the reasons for taking official actions.  In re Office of Inspector Gen. 

R.R. Ret. Bd., 933 F.2d 276, 278 (5th Cir. 1991).  Compelling the testimony of high-ranking 

government officials is justified only in “extraordinary instances.”  Vill. Of Arlington Heights v. 

Metro. Hous. Dev. Corp. 429 U.S. 252, 268 (1977).  This requirement is commonly referred to as 

the “apex doctrine.”  United States v. Newman, 531 F. Supp. 3d 181, 188 (D.D.C. 2021).  

 
7 [Doc. No. 72] 
8 [Doc. No. 34 at 12] 
9 [Id., p. 2] 
10 [Id., p. 1] 
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 The “extraordinary circumstances” limitation on the compelled testimony of high-ranking 

officials is necessary because such orders raise separation of powers concerns.  In re United States 

(Jackson), 624 F.3d 1368, 1372 (11th Cir. 2010).  Additionally, requiring high-ranking officials to 

appear for depositions also threatens to “disrupt the functioning of the Executive Branch.”  In re 

Cheney, 544 F.3d 311, 314 (D.C. Cir. 2008).  High-level executives and government officials need 

some measure of protection from the courts because they are vulnerable to numerous, repetitive, 

harassing, and abusive depositions.  Asberry v. Sch. Bd. Of Pasco Cnty. Fla., 2019 WL 12383128 

at 1 (M.D. Fla. Aug. 20, 2019). The general rule prohibiting depositions of high-ranking 

government officials also applies to former high-ranking officials.  In re United States (Bernanke), 

542 F. App’x 944, 949 (Fed. Cir. 2013). 

 As a preliminary requirement for an “exceptional circumstances” analysis, the proponent 

of the deposition must show “that the official has first-hand knowledge related to the claims being 

litigated that is unobtainable from other sources.”  In re Bryant, 745 F. App’x 215, 218 n 2. (5th 

Cir. 2018). After the “first-hand knowledge” threshold is crossed in determining whether 

exceptional circumstances exist to warrant a deposition, a court must consider (1) the high-ranking 

status of the deponents; (2) the potential burden that the depositions would impose on them; and 

(3) the substantive reasons for taking the depositions. Bryant, 745 F. App’x at 220.   

A. Defendants’ Opposition to Depositions 

Defendants have objected to Plaintiffs’ request to depose all ten government officials. 

Mainly, Defendants’ objections are that Plaintiffs have not met their heavy burden of 

demonstrating that depositions are warranted at this stage because: (1) some of the officials sought 

to be deposed were not named in the Original Complaint and are outside of the Court-authorized 

expedited discovery; (2) Plaintiffs’ have not demonstrated the “exceptional circumstances” 
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required for the depositions of high ranking officials; and (3) former officials could not be taken 

during the thirty-day time period due to the requirements in FED. R. CIV. P. 45. 

Each proposed deponent must be examined to determine whether exceptional 

circumstances exist. Additionally, in its prior Ruling,11 the Court did not allow additional 

interrogatories to Defendants added in the Amended Complaint12 because of the compressed 

expedited discovery schedule. However, the Court did not intend to prohibit depositions of newly 

added Defendants, because they can be taken within the expedited discovery schedule. 

As it relates to former government officials (i.e., Andrew Slavitt and Jennifer Psaki), FED. 

R. CIV. P. 45 does not prohibit depositions to be conducted within thirty days. Despite Defendants’ 

threat to file a Motion to Quash the subpoenas, the Court finds that FRCP 45 requirements do not 

prohibit depositions being taken in a timely manner. Any depositions authorized by this Court of 

former government officials will have already taken into consideration the burden of the deponent. 

In the event that these depositions exceed the thirty-day restraint set out in FRCP 45, an extension 

may be warranted. 

Defendants have essentially adopted the same arguments they made in their opposition to 

Plaintiffs conducting any form of discovery as it related to the preliminary injunction motion. 

While the Court agrees that obtaining the depositions of high-ranking officials such as the ones 

requested here is an exceptional circumstance, it will analyze each person that the Plaintiffs 

requested under the factors laid out in Bryant.  

B. Plaintiffs’ Arguments 

Plaintiffs argue that the depositions of the ten aforementioned officials are necessary for 

the following reasons. 

 
11 [Doc. No. 72] 
12 [Doc. No. 45] 
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1. Dr. Anthony Fauci—NIAID Director and White House Chief Medical Advisor 

Dr. Anthony Fauci (“Dr. Fauci”), who is a Defendant in this case, is the Director of the 

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) and Chief Medical Advisor to the 

President. Plaintiffs move to depose Dr. Fauci for substantial reasons. The Court will discuss them 

all. 

First, Plaintiffs claim that Dr. Fauci is directly involved with multiple social media 

censorship campaigns against COVID-19 misinformation. Plaintiffs argue that “speech backed by 

great scientific credibility and with enormous potential nationwide impact” that contradicted Dr. 

Fauci’s views was censored on social media, and it was most likely censored because of the 

insistence of Dr. Fauci.  

The first example of this is Dr. Fauci’s efforts to discredit any theory that COVID-19 was 

the result of a “lab leak.” Plaintiffs assert that “Dr. Fauci had funded risky ‘gain-of-function’ 

research at the Wuhan Institute of Virology through intermediaries such as EcoHealth Alliance, 

headed by Dr. Peter Daszak.”  Which in turn meant that if there were truth behind the lab-leak 

theory, “Dr. Fauci and Dr. Daszak could be potentially implicated in funding the research on 

viruses that caused the COVID-19 pandemic and killed millions of people worldwide.”  In late 

January and early February 2020, information on the lab-leak theory began to become spread to 

the public. Soon thereafter, Dr. Fauci participated in a conference call with scientists and science-

funding authorities, which may or may not have been about discrediting the lab-leak theory. 

Plaintiff States assert that “After the conference call, influential individuals signed public 

statements that were placed in science journals in an attempt to discredit the lab-leak theory.”  

During this time, Plaintiff States also urge that Dr. Fauci engaged in written and oral 
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communications with Mark Zuckerberg about the Government’s COVID-19 response, and 

allegedly widespread social-media censorship of the lab-leak hypothesis ensued.   

Plaintiffs further this argument by pointing out the publicly available emails between Drs. 

Fauci and Collins regarding their efforts to discredit the lab-leak theory, which Plaintiffs assert led 

to the censorship of the theory online. These emails indicate that Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins were 

both aware of certain scientists’ concerns that SARS-CoV-2 looked bioengineered. However, 

those same scientists authored a paper for Nature Medicine that discredited the lab-leak theory 

despite that three days earlier on February 1, they had advocated the theory to Dr. Fauci. That 

paper was also sent to Dr. Fauci for approval.  

Plaintiffs allege that Dr. Fauci and Mark Zuckerberg commenced a course of friendly oral 

communications about the Government’s COVID-19 response. Plaintiff States wish to ascertain 

the contents of these communications in depositions. 

On April 16, 2020, Dr. Collins emailed Dr. Fauci a link to a Bret Baier article about the 

lab-leak theory, expressing concerns over whether “NIH” can help to take down the “very 

destructive conspiracy” that seems to be growing momentum. He further stated that he hoped the 

Nature Medicine article “would settle this” and asked what more “we” could do about it. One day 

after this email, which Plaintiff States argue clearly shows Dr. Collins requesting Dr. Fauci to use 

more public pressure to stop the theory from circulating, Dr. Fauci cited the Nature Medicine 

article while speaking from a podium at the White House.13 

Plaintiffs next cite to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins communications regarding the Great 

Barrington Declaration, a scientific critique of the effects of prolonged lockdowns as a response 

 
13 This was one among many public statements Dr. Fauci made about the illegitimacy of the lab-leak theory. 
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to COVID-19 co-authored by Dr. Jay Bhattacharya and Dr. Martin Kulldorff, Plaintiffs in this 

case. Dr. Collins’ email regarding the publication read: 

Hi Tony and Cliff, See: https://gbdeclaration.org/. This proposal 
from the three fringe epidemiologists who met with the Secretary 
seems to be getting a lot of attention – and even a co-signature from 
Nobel Prize winner Mike Leavitt at Stanford. There needs to be a 
quick and devastating published take-down of its premises. I don’t 
see anything like that online yet – is it underway? Francis.14 

 
In response, Dr. Fauci began making a series of public statements that were highly critical of the 

Great Barrington Declaration, describing it as “total nonsense” and “ridiculous.”15 “[T]he 

censorship of the Great Barrington Declaration and Plaintiffs Bhattacharya and Kulldorff 

[occurred] just after a senior HHS official called for a ‘quick and devastating … take-down’ of the 

Declaration” to Dr. Fauci.16 

 Plaintiffs next assert that Dr. Fauci was involved in Twitter’s permanent suspension of the 

vaccine critic Alex Berenson (“Berenson”). Berenson’s tweets consisted of science-based 

objections to the vaccinations of young, healthy persons, which became a target for Biden-

Administration’s censors. Plaintiff States argue that “Alex Berenson disclosed internal Twitter 

communications revealing that senior ‘WH’ officials including Andrew Slavitt specifically 

pressured Twitter to de-platform Berenson, an influential vaccine critic—which Twitter did.”17  

Dr. Fauci publicly described Berenson’s opinions on vaccines as “horrifying.”  President Biden 

followed Dr. Fauci’s steps and made a statement that “They’re killing people” by not censoring 

vaccine “misinformation,” to which Twitter subsequently permanently suspended Berenson from 

 
14 [Doc. No. 45-3, ¶ 14]. 
15 See, e.g., Jessie Hellmann, Fauci Blasts Herd Immunity Proposal Embraced by White House as ‘Total Nonsense,’ 
THE HILL (Oct. 15, 2020), at https://thehill.com/policy/healthcare/521220-fauci-blasts-herd-immunity-proposal-
embraced-by-white-house-as-total/.    
16 [Doc. No. 84, ¶ 480]. 
17 [Doc. No. 84, ¶ 345].   
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its platform.18 On October 13, 2022, Berenson posted on Substack Twitter emails indicating that a 

board member of Pfizer pressured Twitter to de-platform Berenson.19 In the emails, the Pfizer 

executive allegedly claimed that Berenson’s speech should be censored because it posed a threat 

to the safety of Dr. Fauci. Which Plaintiffs argue creates an inference that there was collusion 

between White House official Andrew Slavitt and the Pfizer executive on this very point. 

 Government Defendants have submitted to Plaintiffs interrogatory responses on behalf of 

Dr. Fauci, asserting that he has had no direct communications with any social-media platforms 

regarding censorship.20 Plaintiffs argue in turn that they should not be required to simply accept 

those blanket statements as they were submitted, and they argue three reasons why Dr. Fauci 

should be questioned under oath.  

 First, Plaintiffs assert that Dr. Fauci has refused to verify under oath his own interrogatory 

responses in violation of this Court’s Order. The NIAID’s responses were instead verified by Dr. 

Jill Harper, who was not named in the Complaint. Accordingly, Dr. Fauci has made no statements 

under oath regarding his communications with social-media platforms, which violates this Court’s 

Order regarding the discovery that instructed Dr. Fauci to provide interrogatory responses.21 The 

Court sees the importance of having Dr. Fauci make statements under oath as it relates to the issues 

of this matter.  

 Next, Plaintiffs argue that even if Dr. Fauci can prove he never communicated with social-

media platforms about censorship, there are compelling reasons that suggest Dr. Fauci has acted 

through intermediaries, and acted on behalf of others, in procuring the social-media censorship of 

credible scientific opinions. Plaintiffs argue that even if Dr. Fauci acted indirectly or as an 

 
18 [Doc. No. 84, ¶ 347].   
19 See https://alexberenson.substack.com/p/pfizer-board-member-scott-gottlieb 
20 [Doc. No. 86-3, p. 24, 57]. 
21  [Doc. No. 72, pp. 67]. 
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intermediary on behalf of others, it is still relevant to Plaintiffs’ preliminary injunction motion. 

The Court agrees. 

 Lastly, Plaintiffs argue that Dr. Fauci’s credibility has been in question on matters related 

to supposed COVID-19 “misinformation” since 2020. Specifically, Plaintiffs state that Dr. Fauci 

has made public statements on the efficacy of masks, the percentage of the population needed for 

herd immunity, NIAID’s funding of “gain-of-function” virus research in Wuhan, the lab-leak 

theory, and more. Plaintiffs urge that his comments on these important issues are relevant to the 

matter at hand and are further reasons why Dr. Fauci should be deposed. Plaintiffs assert that they 

should not be required to simply accept Dr. Fauci’s “self-serving blanket denials” that were issued 

from someone other than himself at face value. The Court agrees. 

 After reviewing the Plaintiffs and the Defendants’ arguments, the Court finds that Plaintiffs 

have proven that Dr. Fauci has personal knowledge about the issue concerning censorship across 

social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary issues of COVID-19. The Court has 

considered that Dr. Fauci is a high-ranking official, especially as he is the Director of the National 

Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases and Chief Medical Advisor to the President. The Court 

sees the only potential burden imposed on Dr. Fauci as a result of him being deposed is that of his 

time. However, the Court acknowledges that any person who is being deposed must sacrifice their 

time, and it does not see any burden imposed on Dr. Fauci that outweighs the Court’s need for the 

information in order to make the most informative decision on the pending Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction filed by Plaintiffs. Finally, the Court is aware of a number of substantive reasons why 

Dr. Fauci’s deposition should be taken. The first is the publicly available emails that prove that 

Dr. Fauci was communicating and acting as an intermediary for others in order to censor 

information from being shared across multiple social-media outlets. The second is that Dr. Fauci 

Case 3:22-cv-01213-TAD-KDM   Document 90   Filed 10/21/22   Page 10 of 28 PageID #:  3924Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 183 of 540

ER-257

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 230 of 300
(259 of 668)



11 
 

has yet to give any statements under oath in this matter. The third is that the Court has no doubt 

that Dr. Fauci was engaging in communications with high-ranking social-media officials, which 

is extremely relevant in the matter at hand. Additionally, the crux of this case is the fundamental 

right of free speech. Any burden that may be imposed on Dr. Fauci is wholly outweighed by the 

importance of Plaintiffs’ allegations of suppression of free speech. Accordingly, the Court finds 

that Plaintiffs have satisfied their burden of proving why a deposition of Dr. Anthony Fauci is 

necessary in this case, and exceptional circumstance are present. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED 

that Dr. Anthony Fauci cooperate in the Plaintiffs’ request to depose him for purposes of their 

preliminary injunction discovery. 

2. Rob Flaherty—White House Director of Digital Strategy 

Plaintiffs move to depose Rob Flaherty (“Flaherty”), who is the Director of Digital Strategy 

for the White House. Plaintiffs describe him as a “key official in the White House’s pressure 

campaign on social-media companies to increase COVID-19 censorship and social-media 

companies’ policies and responses to COVID-19 vaccine claims.”22 Flaherty is said to have had 

“extensive” oral meetings with social-media platforms, including Twitter, Meta and YouTube on 

vaccine hesitancy and combatting misinformation.  

Plaintiffs allege that Flaherty consistently communicates with Meta’s director of U.S. 

Public Policy through “Covid Insight Reports,” which detail trends/posts by social-media users 

taken by Meta. Further, Plaintiffs allege that he has held meetings about Meta’s platform to address 

misinformation and to curb vaccine hesitancy. Meta allegedly contacts Flaherty when Covid-19 

vaccines are authorized for new groups of people, and they report on Meta’s intentions to censor 

disfavored opinions about vaccine effectiveness for those new groups, all allegedly at the White 

 
22 [Doc. No. 86-5]. 
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House’s urging.23 Plaintiffs argue that Flaherty has specific knowledge and information on Meta’s 

attempts to censor the “Disinformation Dozen.”2425 Further, Plaintiffs assert that Flaherty has led 

efforts for the White House to force Meta to explain “how big the [misinformation] problem is, 

what solutions you’re implementing, and how effective they’ve been.”26 Further, Flaherty 

supposedly “pressured Meta by sending them an article about misinformation on Facebook with a 

subject line ‘not sure what to say anymore.’”  Flaherty also allegedly knows about the Biden 

Transition Team’s efforts with Meta.27 Defendants’ interrogatory responses detailed that Flaherty 

participated in virtual meetings with social-media platforms, which Plaintiffs assert were about 

censorship.28 

Plaintiffs maintain that deposing Flaherty is essential to this case as it would provide 

critical information on the White House’s pressure campaign to social-media platforms against the 

“Disinformation Dozen” and other COVID-19 “misinformation” issues, especially as it relates to 

their leaning on social media companies after press reports were released regarding vaccines, and 

the White House’s involvement over content-modulation policies instilled in Meta and Twitter in 

their efforts to remove “the most harmful COVID-19 misinformation.”29 

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have proven that Flaherty has personal knowledge about the 

issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary issues of 

COVID-19. The Court has considered that Flaherty is a high-ranking official, especially as he 

serves as Director of Digital Strategy for the White House. Any burden imposed upon Flaherty is 

 
23 [Id. at 7268-89; 7250].   
24 Supposedly, there are a dozen accounts across social-media that spread the mass of “misinformation” on COVID-
19. Government officials have taken to calling these accounts the “Disinformation Dozen”. 
25 [Id. at 7322].   
26 [Id. at 7258–59; see also id. at 16279].   
27 [Id. at 16364, 16276].   
28 [Doc. No. 86-3, at 31]. 
29 [Doc. No. 86-5, p. 7248-49, 16275]. 
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outweighed by the need for Plaintiffs to determine whether the fundamental right of free speech 

has been abridged. Extraordinary circumstances are present to depose this high-ranking official. 

The substantive reasons for taking Flaherty’s depositions are set out herein, and the Court finds 

the substantive reasons are overwhelming. For reasons further set out herein, Plaintiffs are allowed 

to depose either Rob Flaherty or Andrew Slavitt. Shall Plaintiffs notify Defendants of their intent 

to depose Rob Flaherty, IT IS ORDERED that Rob Flaherty cooperate with Plaintiffs’ request to 

depose him. 

3. Andrew Slavitt—White House Senior COVID-19 Advisor 

Defendant Andrew Slavitt (“Slavitt”) served as the White House’s Senior COVID-19 

Advisor.  Slavitt allegedly “led the charge” for the White House in its campaign with social-media 

companies to increase the censorship of private speech as it related to COVID-19 through meetings 

and oral conversations with representatives of multiple social-media platforms. Plaintiffs assert 

that in Defendants’ own documentary discovery, it is revealed that Slavitt received “Facebook bi-

weekly covid content reports” from a senior Facebook executive in order for Slavitt to “oversee” 

Facebook’s censorship.30 Plaintiffs also argue that Slavitt specifically pressured Twitter to de-

platform Alex Berenson. This was supposedly done in an oral meeting, so there is no official record 

of it.31  

On April 21, 2022, a meeting invitation was sent to Slavitt, which stated:  

White House Staff will be briefed by Twitter on vaccine 
[misinformation] Twitter to cover trends seen generally around 
vaccine misinformation, the tangible effects seen from recent policy 
changes, what interventions are currently being implemented in 
addition to previous policy changes, and ways the White House (and 
our COVID experts) can partner in product work.32 

 
30 [Doc. No. 84, ¶ 343]. 
31 [Doc. No. 84, ¶¶ 345-46.]. 
32 [Id. ¶ 345].   
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The next day, internal Twitter messages reflected that Slavitt had posed “one really tough question 

about why Alex Berenson hasn’t been kicked off the platform.”33  Plaintiffs describe several other 

instances where Slavitt engaged in email exchanges with social-media executives that describe 

censorship of the platforms and the actions the platforms are taking to expand censorship for 

language they deemed to be “harmful.”34 One email in particular read: 

[O]n March 2, 2021, Meta sent an email assuring Slavitt, Flaherty, 
and Humphrey that the company is “[c]ombating vaccine 
misinformation and de-amplifying content that could contribute to 
vaccine hesitancy” by “improving the effectiveness of our existing 
enforcement systems (particularly focusing on entities that 
repeatedly post vaccine misinformation), mitigating viral content 
that could lead to vaccine hesitancy[.]”35 
 

Plaintiffs maintain that Twitter and Meta’s Facebook have identified Slavitt as a senior federal 

official whom they communicated about their efforts to “stop” the spread of alleged 

“misinformation” regarding COVID-19. Plaintiffs go on to assert that the White House has also 

identified Slavitt and Flaherty as senior White House Officials who were involved in 

communications with social-media platforms. Plaintiffs argue these communications centered on 

censorship. 

 Plaintiffs also cite to a podcast that Slavitt participated in, wherein he stated, “my time in 

the White House where I was charged with pushing organizations like Facebook from spewing 

misinformation.”36 Plaintiffs detail Slavitt’s statements made on the podcast, wherein he states that 

he was “pushing” for the company (i.e., social-media platforms) to be “more responsible” for the 

 
33 [Id. ¶ 346]. 
34 [Id. ¶¶ 354, 369]. 
35 [Id. ¶ 375.] 
36 Is COVID Misinformation Killing People?, Published Jul 21, 2021, at https://omny.fm/shows/in-the-bubble/is-
covid-misinformation-killing-people-with-facebo (audio 5:40) 
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information that was being spread on the platforms. Plaintiffs move to depose Slavitt because of 

his role as a “self-professed principal enforcer for online censorship.”  

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have proven that Andrew Slavitt has personal knowledge 

about the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary 

issues of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Slavitt is a former high-ranking official, 

especially as he served as the White House’s Senior COVID-19 Advisor. Any burden imposed 

upon Slavitt is outweighed by Plaintiffs’ allegations of suppression of free speech. Extraordinary 

circumstances are present. As the Court has stated, any person who is being deposed must sacrifice 

their time, and it does not see any burden imposed on Slavitt that outweighs the Court’s need for 

the information in order to make the most informative decision on the pending Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction filed by Plaintiffs. Lastly, the Court has determined that there are 

substantive reasons for taking the deposition. As stated above, Slavitt was the White House’s 

Senior COVID-19 Advisor. His role put him in a position that would grant him specific knowledge 

to the facts at issue. Slavitt’s own description of his role on a podcast that he went on showed he 

has specific knowledge as it relates to these issues. His communications, actions, and orders to and 

between social-media platforms will be necessary for this Court to make its ruling. Accordingly, 

as stated above, because Flaherty and Slavitt were both White House officials, in an effort to 

narrowly tailor this expedited discovery, Plaintiffs are allowed to take the deposition of either 

Flaherty or Slavitt, but not both. Should Plaintiffs notify Defendants of a desire to depose Andrew 

Slavitt, IT IS ORDERED that Slavitt cooperate as to Plaintiffs’ request to depose him. 

4. Jennifer Psaki—Former White House Press Secretary 

Jennifer Psaki (Psaki) is the former White House Press Secretary of President Biden. She 

is a Defendant in this case. Plaintiffs move to depose Psaki for a multitude of reasons. The most 
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pressing reason being that during her tenure as White House chief spokesperson, Psaki made a 

series of public statements that: 

(1) attested to her personal knowledge of the participation of high-
level White House officials in pressuring social-media platforms, 
and (2) reinforced the public threats of adverse legal consequences 
to social-media platforms if they do not increase censorship of views 
disfavored by federal officials.  Thus, she both admitted to 
knowledge of pressure to censor from federal officials and directly 
engaged in such pressure herself, in a highly impactful and visible 
fashion.37    

 
Plaintiffs’ Complaint details the statements Psaki made as they relate to these claims. For example, 

on May 5, 2021, Psaki stated at a White House press conference “the major platforms have a 

responsibility related to the health and safety of all Americans to stop amplifying untrustworthy 

content, disinformation, and misinformation, especially related to COVID-19, vaccinations, and 

elections.”38 Psaki stated at another press conference on July 15, 2021, that she administration is 

in “regular touch” with social-media platforms and that the engagements happen between 

“members of our senior staff” and “members of our COVID-19 team.”39 Psaki also often spoke of 

the “Disinformation Dozen” and stated that: 

All [12] of them remain active on Facebook, despite some even 
being banned on other platforms, including Facebook — ones that 
Facebook owns … Facebook needs to move more quickly to remove 
harmful, violative posts — posts that will be within their policies for 
removal often remain up for days.  That’s too long. The information 
spreads too quickly.40 

 
37 [Doc. No. 86, p. 15]. 
38 White House, Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki and Secretary of Agriculture Tom Vilsack, May 5, 
2021, at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/05/05/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-
jen-psaki-and-secretary-of-agriculture-tom-vilsack-may-5-2021/. 
39 [Doc. No. 86, p. 16]. 
40 [Id.] 
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Psaki also called on social-media platforms for consistency in banning disfavored speakers, stating 

“You shouldn’t be banned from one platform and not others.”41  

 Plaintiffs further argue that along with these statements, Psaki also “demanded” “robust 

strategies” for social-media companies to enforce censorship of “harmful posts.” On April 25, 

2022, Psaki also stated that President Biden was concerned about social-media platforms and 

thought they should be held accountable for the harms caused by the spread of “disinformation.” 

She maintained at this press briefing that certain officials within the White House and the Biden 

Administration maintained “regular” contact with social-media platforms. 

 Plaintiffs submitted interrogatories to Karine Jean-Pierre, who is Psaki’s successor as 

White House Press Secretary, and asked questions regarding the social-media censorship and 

Psaki’s knowledge of such. Defendants’ response to the interrogatories was that they lacked 

knowledge of the basis of her statements on those issues because Psaki no longer works at the 

White House. The only relevant responses Defendants supplied in the interrogatories were that 

Rob Flaherty and Andrew Slavitt were involved in communications with social-media platforms. 

Plaintiffs move to depose Psaki because they have obtained no statements from Psaki about what 

her “actual knowledge” of these issues is. Plaintiffs state that they should be allowed to depose her 

to explore the basis of the “critical statements” alleged in the Complaint and stated above.  

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have proven that Jennifer Psaki has personal knowledge 

about the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary 

issues of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Psaki was a high-ranking official at the time 

that she made the statements at issue, especially as she served as the White House Press Secretary. 

 
41 White House, Press Briefing by Press Secretary Jen Psaki, July 16, 2021, at 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2021/07/16/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-jen-psaki-
july-16-2021/. 
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However, this rank does not mitigate the relevance and the need of her deposition as it relates to 

this case. Any burden on Psaki is outweighed by the need to determine whether free speech has 

been suppressed. Lastly, the Court has determined that there are substantive reasons for taking the 

deposition. Extraordinary circumstances are present. As stated above, Psaki has made a number of 

statements that are relevant to the Government’s involvement in a number of social-media 

platforms’ efforts to censor its users across the board for sharing information related to COVID-

19. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that Jennifer Psaki cooperate in the Plaintiffs’ request to 

depose her for purposes of their preliminary injunction discovery. 

5. Elvis Chan—FBI Supervisory Special Agent 

Plaintiffs move to depose Elvis Chan (“Chan”), a named Defendant in this case and the 

FBI Supervisory Special Agent of Squad CY-1 in the San Francisco Division of the FBI.42 

Plaintiffs argue that Chan has “authority over cybersecurity issues for FBI in that geographical 

region, which includes the headquarters of major social-media platforms, and he plays a critical 

role for FBI in coordinating with social-media platforms relating to censorship and suppression of 

speech on their platforms.”43 Plaintiffs move to depose Chan because they assert he plays a central 

role in the federal government’s suppression of social-media censorship. 

In support of this argument, Plaintiffs cite to a podcast where Mark Zuckerberg stated that 

communications from the FBI led to Facebook censoring stories of the Hunter Biden Laptop.44 

Plaintiffs maintain that in response to their third-party subpoena, Meta’s counsel identified Chan 

as the FBI agent who communicated with Facebook to suppress that story. Plaintiffs move to 

depose Chan because the Government has not provided documentary discovery with respect to 

 
42 [Doc. No. 84, ¶ 61]. 
43 [Id.] 
44 [Doc. No. 86, p. 19]. 
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Chan and because Chan has personal knowledge. They claim that his testimony is relevant and 

necessary to their preliminary injunction discovery motion.  

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have established that Elvis Chan has personal knowledge 

about the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary 

issues of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Chan was a high-ranking official, especially 

as he served as the FBI Supervisory Special Agent. However, this rank does not mitigate the 

relevance and the need of his deposition as it relates to this case. Any burden imposed on Chan by 

being deposed is outweighed by the need to determine whether the First Amendment right of free 

speech has been suppressed. There are no burdens imposed on Chan outweighing the Court’s need 

for the information in order to make the most informed decision on the pending Motion for 

Preliminary Injunction filed by Plaintiffs. Extraordinary circumstances are present here. Lastly, 

the Court has determined that there are substantive reasons for taking the deposition. As stated 

above, Chan was identified as the FBI Agent who communicated with Facebook to suppress a 

story about the Hunter Biden laptop. If he did this, the Court ultimately finds there are reasons to 

believe that he has interfered in other ways, too. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that Elvis Chan 

cooperate in the Plaintiffs’ request to depose him for purposes of their preliminary injunction 

discovery. 

6. Jen Easterly—CISA Director 

Plaintiffs move to depose Jen Easterly (“Easterly”), the Director of CISA within the 

Department of Homeland Security, because she supervises the “nerve center” of federally directed 

censorship. Plaintiffs describe the CISA’s central role as “directly flagging misinformation to 

social-media companies for censorship.” Plaintiffs also assert that Easterly “claim[s] that social-

media speech” by Americans “is a form of ‘infrastructure,’ and that policing speech online by the 
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federal government falls within her agency’s mission to protect ‘infrastructure,’ stating that … ‘the 

most critical infrastructure is a cognitive infrastructure.”45  

Plaintiffs also cite to Easterly’s text messages between Easterly and Matt Masterson, a 

former CISA agent who now works for a social-media platform.46 Allegedly, these texts center 

around Easterly and Masterson discussing a “Disinformation Governance Board.” The 

conversations ultimately describe how Easterly seeks greater censorship and that this would be 

done by federal pressure on social media platforms to increase censorship.  

Plaintiffs move to depose Easterly for two reasons. First, they say that her role in the CISA 

as the director oversees the “nerve center” of the federal government’s efforts to censor social-

media users. They say that her text messages show that she has unique knowledge about the scope 

and nature of communications between CISA, DHS, and other federal officials. Second, Plaintiffs 

assert that in their response to interrogatories, CISA disclosed extensive oral communications and 

meetings between CISA officials and social-media platforms. No officials were actually identified 

by the CISA, but Plaintiffs believe that because of her role, Easterly would have detailed 

knowledge of what the CISA is disclosing. Plaintiffs state that her deposition would be their only 

chance of obtaining this information prior to addressing the preliminary injunction. 

The Court finds that Easterly is a high-ranking official that has personal knowledge of 

relevant facts. Any burden imposed on Easterly is outweighed by the need to determine whether 

the First Amendment right of free speech was suppressed. Exceptional circumstances exist here. 

The substantive reasons for deposing Easterly are set forth herein. Because Easterly and Lauren 

Protentis both work for CISA, to narrowly tailor the relief sought, Plaintiffs are allowed to depose 

 
45 [Doc. No. 86, citing Doc. No. 84, ¶¶ 290-293, 301, 302, 291]. 
46 [Doc. No. 71-5, p. 2-4]. 
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either Easterly or Lauren Protentis, but not both. Should Plaintiffs notify Defendants of a desire to 

depose Jean Easterly, IT IS ORDERED that she cooperate with Plaintiffs’ request to depose her. 

7. Lauren Protentis47—CISA “Mis- Dis- and Mal-Information Team” Member 

Plaintiffs move to depose Protentis because of her membership of the CISA Mis- Dis- and 

Mal-Information Team (“MDM Team”), whose mission is allegedly a federally induced 

censorship of social-media speech.  The documentary discovery provided that Protentis was 

involved in the MDM Team and engaged in oral communications with executives of social-media 

platforms. Plaintiffs allege these communications were about censorship. Plaintiffs assert that 

Protentis is a “leader” and “expert” in the MDM Team’s efforts to bridge a gap between the federal 

government and social-media companies to create a line of control over the censorship of social 

media.48 Plaintiffs also argue that her contacts with these companies are so “pervasive,” that 

oftentimes “very senior officials” in other departments ask her to introduce them to “points of 

contact.”49 

Plaintiffs ultimately conclude that Protentis serves as a vital connection between CISA and 

social-media platforms in the government’s censorship efforts, has special knowledge in the 

election-security space, and provides briefings to the governments of foreign countries on how to 

interact with social-media companies.  They assert that Protentis’ testimony will establish context 

of the meetings, extent of CISA’s election security efforts, tools that the government uses on 

social-media platforms, and efforts to influence election officials and encourage them to use social-

media companies to censor voters ahead of the 2022 election.   

 
47 Defendants indicated that Protentis is on maternity leave, but they did not indicate when she would be returning. 
48 These include Twitter, Google, Microsoft, and Meta. 
49 [Doc. No. 86-6]. 
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The Court finds that Plaintiffs have established that Protentis has personal knowledge about 

the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary issues 

of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Protentis is a high-ranking official because of her 

role as a MDM Team Member. The potential burden imposed on Protentis is outweighed by the 

need to determine whether First Amendment rights of free speech have been suppressed. 

Exceptional circumstances exist here. The Court finds that there are substantive reasons for taking 

Protentis’ deposition. As stated above, Protentis served a vastly important role between the federal 

government and the social-media companies. Based on the description above, she served as a 

connection between these two conglomerates. This is relevant to the issues presented by Plaintiffs 

in their motion, and her deposition is important to the Court to make an informed determination. 

Because Easterly and Protentis both work for CISA, to narrowly tailor the relief sought, Plaintiffs 

are allowed to depose either Easterly or Lauren Protentis, but not both. Should Plaintiffs notify 

Defendants of a desire to depose Lauren Protentis, IT IS ORDERED that she cooperate with 

Plaintiffs’ request to depose her. 

8. Vivek Murthy—Surgeon General 

Plaintiffs next move to depose Surgeon General Dr. Vivek Murthy (“Dr. Murthy”) for his 

public campaign to censor individuals who spread “misinformation” about COVID-19. [Doc. No. 

84]. Plaintiffs state that Dr. Murthy has also publicly criticized “tech companies” by asserting that 

they are responsible for COVID-19 deaths due to their failure to censor “misinformation.” 

Plaintiffs also allege that Dr. Murthy issued a Request for Information (RFI) on March 2, 2022, 

requesting tech platforms to provide him with information about “misinformation,” including the 

identities of those supposedly spreading it on their sites.50 Plaintiffs assert that this, along with Dr. 

 
50 [Doc. No. 84, ¶¶ 243-46].   
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Murthy’s other statements, as well as those of President Joseph Biden and Jen Psaki, this RFI “was 

an intimidation tactic, designed to frighten the tech companies into compliance with his demand 

to escalate censorship of certain viewpoints on Covid-19 for fear of reprisal in the form of 

regulation or other legal consequences.”51 

Plaintiffs urge that Dr. Murthy also engages in communications with high-level Facebook 

executives about the “demand” for greater censorship of COVID-19 “misinformation.” Plaintiffs 

state that they obtained this information through texts and emails through discovery. These 

establish that Dr. Murthy was engaged in these communications and was even sent “reports” to 

obtain Dr. Murthy’s opinions on censorship.  

Plaintiffs move to depose Dr. Murthy because of his direct, routine contact with the senior 

Meta executive, and at least one phone call with him.  He is the only individual in government 

privy to these conversations, and thus the only person who can therefore answer questions about 

the nature and degree of the conversations and clarify whether additional conversations on the 

topic were held over the phone or in virtual or in-person meetings.   

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have established that Dr. Murthy has personal knowledge 

about the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary 

issues of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Dr. Murthy is a high-ranking official as he 

serves as Surgeon General. However, this rank does not mitigate the relevance and the need of his 

deposition as it relates to this case. Further, his actions went beyond the scope of this rank, and the 

Court finds that those actions must be addressed through a deposition. The potential burden 

imposed on Dr. Murthy is outweighed by the need to determine whether First Amendment rights 

of free speech have been suppressed. Exceptional circumstances are present. The Court finds that 

 
51 [Id. ¶ 243]. 
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there are substantive reasons for taking the deposition. As stated above, Dr. Murthy made public 

statements about how the media companies’ failure to censor its users related in COVID-19 deaths. 

These statements are extremely substantive to the nature of this suit. Accordingly, IT IS 

ORDERED that Dr. Vivek Murthy cooperate in the Plaintiffs’ request to depose him for purposes 

of their preliminary injunction discovery. 

9. Carol Y. Crawford—CDC’s Chief of the Digital Media Branch 

Plaintiffs move to depose Defendant Carol Crawford (“Crawford”), the Chief of the Digital 

Media Branch of the Division of Public Affairs within CDC, because she is allegedly among the 

government employees most involved in censoring “misinformation” about COVID-19. Plaintiffs 

state that she participated in emails with employees at Twitter, Meta, and Google/YouTube. 

Further, they state that she organized “Be on the Lookout” (“BOLO”) meetings, which were 

essentially meetings that attempted to “quell the spread of misinformation” in 2021.52 Plaintiffs 

claim that during these meetings, Crawford flagged certain social-media posts, provided examples 

of types of posts to censor, and urged the participants not to share the information exchanged in 

the BOLO meetings. She also worked with the Census Bureau in an effort to identify certain social-

media users who were allegedly spreading misinformation about the vaccine. Emails from March 

of 2021 indicate that a meeting between the CDC (including Ms. Crawford), Census, and Google 

was held to discuss “COVID vaccine mis-info.”53 

Plaintiffs claim that Crawford’s communications show that the CDC, the Census Bureau, 

and other government agencies collaborated with Facebook to censor speech on the platform. 

Plaintiffs claim that she has been involved in the “censorship enterprise” from the beginning of 

 
52 [Doc. No. 84]. 
53 [Doc. No. 86-10]. 
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the pandemic. Plaintiffs detail this by pointing out two phone calls Crawford engaged in with a 

Facebook employee.54 

Plaintiffs move to depose Crawford because they claim that her email exchanges 

demonstrate that she played a key role in directing censorship on social-media platforms. Plaintiffs 

also suggest that her references to the role of the Census Bureau suggest that she would be able to 

shed light on that agency’s role in efforts to flag “misinformation” the previous year, a topic about 

which little is known.  

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have established that Crawford has personal knowledge 

about the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary 

issues of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Crawford is a high-ranking official because 

of her role as the CDC’s Chief of the Digital Media Branch. This role, though, is vastly important 

to the issues at hand, and her rank does not mitigate the relevance and the need of her deposition 

as it relates to this case. The potential burden imposed on Crawford is outweighed by the need to 

determine whether First Amendment rights of free speech have been suppressed. Exceptional 

circumstances exist here. The Court finds that there are substantive reasons for taking the 

deposition. As stated above, Crawford organized meetings and engaged in a number of 

communications with social-media officials, and the contents of those meetings and 

communications are highly important for the issues presented by this case. Accordingly, IT IS 

ORDERED that Carol Crawford cooperate in the Plaintiffs’ request to depose her for purposes of 

their preliminary injunction discovery. 

 

 

 
54 [Doc. No. 86-10]. 
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10. Daniel Kimmage—State Department’s Global Engagement Center Coordinator 

Plaintiffs move to depose Daniel Kimmage (“Kimmage”), the Acting Coordinator for the 

Global Engagement Center (“GEC”) at the State Department, because he allegedly works closely 

with Easterly and CISA to coordinate social-media censorship of speech on election-related issues 

and election integrity. Plaintiffs allege that in response to third-party subpoena, Twitter identified 

Kimmage as communicating with it about censorship and content modulation.55 Allegedly, the 

purpose of the GEC is to facilitate coordination between the government and the tech sector to 

combat disinformation. Plaintiffs claim that the GEC works closely with the CISA on issues of 

censorship. 

Plaintiffs claim that Kimmage’s GEC collaborated with CISA in 2020 and 2022 to create 

and fund an alliance of third-party nonprofits called the “Election Integrity Partnership,” which 

supposedly pushed for social-media censorship of free speech about elections in 2020 and 

continues to do so today in 2022.56 

These are not the only CISA-GEC election-related censorship activities. Documents 

produced by LinkedIn demonstrate that Samaruddin K. Stewart, acting on behalf of Kimmage’s 

Global Engagement Center in the State Department, organized repeated face-to-face meetings with 

LinkedIn and other social-media platforms to discuss censorship.57 The nature and content of 

communications at these oral meetings about disinformation between Kimmage’s representatives 

and social-media platforms has not been disclosed. Plaintiffs assert that the Defendants have 

provided no documentary discovery about Kimmage’s GEC and its central role in federal 

 
55 [Doc. No. 84, ¶ 396]. 
56 [Id. ¶ 401]. 
57 [Doc. No. 84, ¶¶ 422-424].   
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censorship activities on election-related speech.  They claim that Kimmage’s deposition is crucial 

for this reason. 

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have established that Kimmage has personal knowledge 

about the issue concerning censorship across social media as it related to COVID-19 and ancillary 

issues of COVID-19. The Court has considered that Kimmage is a high-ranking official because 

of his role as the Acting Coordinator for the Global Engagement Center at the State Department. 

This role, though, is vastly important to the issues at hand, and his rank does not mitigate the 

relevance and the need of his deposition as it relates to this case. The potential burden imposed on 

Kimmage is outweighed by the need to determine whether First Amendment rights of free speech 

have been suppressed. Exceptional circumstances exist here. The Court finds that there are 

substantive reasons for taking the deposition, as stated above. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that 

Daniel Kimmage cooperate in the Plaintiffs’ request to depose him for purposes of their 

preliminary injunction discovery. 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, 

IT IS ORDERED that to the extent that Plaintiffs move to depose the following parties, 

the request is GRANTED: NIAID Director and White House Chief Medical Advisor Dr. Anthony 

Fauci; Deputy Assistant to the President and Director of White House Digital Strategy Rob 

Flaherty OR former White House Senior COVID-19 Advisory Andrew Slavitt; former White 

House Press Secretary Jennifer Psaki; FBI Supervisory Special Agent Elvis Chan; CISA Director 

Jen Easterly OR CISA official Lauren Protentis; Surgeon General Vivek Murthy; CDC Chief of 

the Digital Media Branch Carol Crawford; and Acting Coordinator of the State Department’s 

Global Engagement Center Daniel Kimmage. 

Case 3:22-cv-01213-TAD-KDM   Document 90   Filed 10/21/22   Page 27 of 28 PageID #:  3941Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 200 of 540

ER-274

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 247 of 300
(276 of 668)



28 
 

MONROE, LOUISIANA, this 21st day of October 2022. 

  
 
 
 

 Terry A. Doughty 
United States District Judge 

 
 

 

Case 3:22-cv-01213-TAD-KDM   Document 90   Filed 10/21/22   Page 28 of 28 PageID #:  3942Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 201 of 540

ER-275

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 248 of 300
(277 of 668)



 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit 

14 

Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 202 of 540

ER-276

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 249 of 300
(278 of 668)



 CAROL CRAWFORD  11/15/2022

www.lexitaslegal.com Phone: 1.800.280.3376 Fax: 314.644.1334
LEXITAS LEGAL

Page 1

1          IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
        FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

2                    MONROE DIVISION

3  STATE OF MISSOURI ex
 rel. ERIC S. SCHMITT,

4  Attorney General,       
 et al.,

5                            No. 3:22-cv-01213-TAD-KDM
      Plaintiffs,

6
 vs.

7
 JOSEPH R. BIDEN, JR., 

8  in his official capacity 

9  as President of the United 

10  States, et al.,

11       Defendants.

12                   

13      THE VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF CAROL CRAWFORD

14                   November 15, 2022

15                 9:24 a.m. to 5:33 p.m.

16
              Office of General Counsel

17       Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
                 1600 Clifton Road NE

18                    Atlanta, Georgia

19
Reporter:

20           Maureen S. Kreimer, CCR-B-1379, CRR

21

22

23

24

25

Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 203 of 540

ER-277

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 250 of 300
(279 of 668)



 CAROL CRAWFORD  11/15/2022

www.lexitaslegal.com Phone: 1.800.280.3376 Fax: 314.644.1334
LEXITAS LEGAL

Page 2

1                 INDEX TO EXAMINATIONS

2 Examination                                       PAGE

3 CAROL CRAWFORD

4 Cross-Examination by Mr. Vecchione                   9

5                DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBITS
Plaintiffs'

6   EXHIBIT            DESCRIPTION                  PAGE

7 Exhibit 1    Deposition Notice for Carol            21
            Crawford

8
Exhibit 2    Emails ending 2/7/20 Subject FB        22

9             Coordination
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00004442-4445

10
Exhibit 3    Emails ending 3/5/20 Facebook's        33

11             COVID-19 Response Efforts
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_0004060-4061

12
Exhibit 4    Emails ending 3/31/20 CDC brief on     38

13             ways to reach high-risk and
            frequent travelers

14             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00003872 and
            MOLA_DEFSPROD00015014-15017

15
Exhibit 5    Emails ending 3/30/20 CDC brief on     43

16             ways to reach high-risk and
            frequent travelers

17             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00015018--19
Exhibit 6    Emails ending 1/26/21 CrowdTangle      49

18             COVID-19 reports for WHO
            MOLA_DEFSPRDO_00002595-96

19 Exhibit 7    Emails ending 5/26/21 CrowdTangle      60

20             COVID-19 reports

21             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002591-94

22 Exhibit 8    Emails ending 3/31/21 re: This         67

23             week's meeting

24             MOLA-DEFSPROD-00003031-33

25 (CONTINUED NEXT PAGE)
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1 Exhibit 9    Emails ending 5/6/21 Misinfo on two     85
            issues MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002686-2688

2
Exhibit 10    emails ending 5/10/21 CV19 misinfo     91

3             reporting channel
            MOLA_DEFSPROD002684-2685

4
Exhibit 11    Emails ending 5/20/21 Agenda item     102

5             for CDC call this week
            MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002659-2660

6
Exhibit 12    Lancet April 2021 article.  Bell's    112

7             palsy and SARS-CoV-2 vaccines
Exhibit 13    Lancet September 2021 article         112

8             Bell's palsy and SARS-CoV-2
            vaccines - an unfolding story

9 Exhibit 14    Document titled Infection fatality    113
            rate of COVID-19 in

10             community-dwelling populations with
            emphasis on the elderly:  An

11             overview
Exhibit 15    Emails ending 6/2/21 RE It was this   118

12             list sorry!
            MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002538-2541

13 Exhibit 16    Emails ending 6/3/21 RE It was this   126
            list, sorry!

14             MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002532-33
Exhibit 17    Emails 7/26/21 FB Misinformation      138

15             Claims_Help Debunking
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002478

16 Exhibit 18    Emails ending 7/20/21 CrowdTangle     141

17             COVID-19 reports

18             MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002487-2489

19 Exhibit 19    emails ending 8/18/21 CrowdTangle     145

20             COVID-19 reports

21             MOLA-DEFSPROD-00002438-440

22 Exhibit 20    Emails ending 8/19/21 VAERS talking   150

23             points 8.15_AH_PM_CLEAN COPY.docx

24             MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002434-435

25 (CONTINUED NEXT PAGE)
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1 Exhibit 21    9/1/21 Email BOLO: CDC lab alert &    152
            misinformation

2             MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002249
Exhibit 22    Emails ending 11/2/21 New Claims &    155

3             Policy updates following EAU
            authorization for 5-11 year olds

4             MOLA-DEFSPROD_000011778-779

5 Exhibit 23    Emails ending 11/8/21 New Claims &    163
            Policy updates following EAU

6             authorization for 5-11 year olds
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00001774-775

7 Exhibit 24    Bloomberg article Frequent Boosters   164
            Spur Warning on Immune Response

8
Exhibit 26    Emails ending 2/3/22 Vaccine          166

9             Misinformation Questions for CDC
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00001683-1686

10
Exhibit 27    Emails ending 2/4/22 Have 5 minutes   171

11             to chat?  MOLA_DEFSPROD_00001677
Exhibit 28    Emails ending 3/23/21 COVID misinfo   173

12             project MOLA_DEFSPROD_00003130-31

13 Exhibit 29    Emails ending 4/5/21 Followup on      179
            mis-info conversation

14             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00003024-25

15 Exhibit 30    Emails ending 4/12/21 Followup on     187
            mis-info conversation

16             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002936

17 Exhibit 31    Emails ending 12/21/21 Omicron page   188
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00001719-21

18 Exhibit 32    Emails ending 4/9/21 Request for      196
            problem accounts

19             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002971
20 Exhibit 33    Emails ending 4/14/21 Request for     200
21             problem accounts
22             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002807
23
24 (CONTINUED NEXT PAGE)
25
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1 Exhibit 34    Emails ending 6/30/21 COVID           205
            Misinformation

2             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002496-500
Exhibit 35    9/3/21 Email BOLO:  CDC lab alert &   219

3             misinformation
            MOLA-DEFSPROD_00002200

4 Exhibit 36    Emails ending 4/15/21 Call or VC -    221
            Facebook weekly sync with CDC

5             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002806
Exhibit 37    Emails ending 4/29/21 CDC Guides      226

6             and this week's meeting
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002694-95

7 Exhibit 38    Emails ending 4/30/21 WY issue        237
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002690-91

8
Exhibit 39    Emails ending 5/6/21 Join with New    239

9             Info E call or VC
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002689

10
Exhibit 40    5/10/21 Email COVID BOLO meetings     241

11             on misinformation
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002683-2682

12
Exhibit 41    Emails ending 6/10/21 CDC COVID_19    247

13             BOLO Meeting
            MOLA_DEFSPROD_00002521-22

14
Exhibit 42    Emails ending 10/28/21 Booster        249

15             Shots MOLA_DEFSPROD_00001827-29
Exhibit 43    6/29/22 email Claims review           254

16             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00001556

17 Exhibit 44    Emails ending 3/10/21 Themes that     257

18             have been removed for misinform

19             MOLA_DEFSPROD_00003159-161

20

21 (REPORTER'S NOTE:  Original Plaintiffs' Exhibits 1

22 through 24 and 26 through 44 have been attached to

23 the original deposition transcript.)

24

25
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1 APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL:
On behalf of the Plaintiff State of Missouri:

2      D. JOHN SAUER, ESQ.
     Missouri Attorney General's Office

3      Supreme Court Building
     221 W. High Street

4      P.O. Box 899
     Jefferson City, Missouri 65101

5      John.sauer@ago.mo.gov
     (877) 696-6775

6 On behalf of the Plaintiffs Dr. Jayanta Bhattacharya,
Dr. Martin Kulldorff, Dr. Aaron Kheriaty, and Jill

7 Hines:

8      JOHN J. VECCHIONE, ESQ.

9      New Civil Liberties Alliance

10      1225 19th Street N.W.

11      Suite 450

12      Washington, DC  20036

13      John.vecchione@ncla.legal

14      (202) 869-5210

15 On behalf of Centers for Disease Control and

16 Prevention:

17       JAMES GILLIGAN, ESQ.

18       KYLA SNOW, ESQ.

19       U.S. Department of Justice

20       1100 L Street N.W.

21       Washington, DC 29530

22       202-353-3098

23       James.gilligan@usdoj.gov

24       Kyla.snow@usdoj.gov

25 (Continued next page)
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1 On behalf of U.S. Department of Health & Human
Services:

2      ANANT KUMAR, ESQ.
     U.S. Department of Health & Human Services

3      200 Independence Avenue S.W.
     Washington, DC 20201

4      Anant.kumar@hhs.gov

5 Also Present:
           Kenya S. Ford, Esq.

6            Sudevi N. Ghosh, Esq.
           Centers for Disease Control & Prevention

7
           Melissa Thombley, Esq (via Zoom)

8            U.S. Department of Health and Human

9            Services

10

11            Joseph Foster, Esq.  (via Zoom)

12            Centers for Disease Control & Prevention

13

14 Legal videographer:  Jason Silling, Lexitas Legal

15

16                     - - -

17

18

19  (Pursuant to Article 10(B) of the Rules and

20 Regulations of the Georgia Board of Court Reporting,

21 disclosure was presented to all counsel present at

22 the proceeding and a written copy is attached

23 hereto.)

24

25
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1           THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are on the record.

2 Today's date is November 15, 2022.  The time is

3 9:24.  This is the video-recorded deposition of

4 Carol Crawford in the matter of the State of

5 Missouri versus Joseph R. Biden in the U.S. District

6 Court for the Western District of Louisiana.

7           This deposition is being held at the CDC.

8 The reporter's name is Maureen Kreimer.  My name is

9 Jason Silling.  I am the legal videographer.  We are

10 with Lexitas Legal.  Would the attorneys present

11 please introduce themselves and the parties they

12 represent.

13           MR. VECCHIONE:  I am John Vecchione.  I

14 represent the individual plaintiffs Jay

15 Bhattacharya, Aaron Kheriaty, and Jill Hines and

16 Martin Kulldorff.

17           MS. SNOW:  My name is Kyla Snow.  I'm with

18 the Department of Justice representing the

19 defendants in this case.  And defendants reserve

20 their right to review, read, review and sign the

21 transcript.

22           MR. GILLIGAN:  James Gilligan, also with

23 the Department of Justice representing the

24 defendants.

25           MR. KUMAR:  Anant Kumar with the Office of
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1 General Counsel in HHS, and I also represent the

2 defendant.  I represent the HHS defendants.

3           THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  Would the court

4 reporter please swear in the witness.

5                    CAROL CRAWFORD,

6 having been first duly sworn, was examined and

7 testified as follows:

8           REPORTER:  You can begin, Counsel.

9           THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  You may proceed.

10                      EXAMINATION

11 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

12       Q.  Good morning, Ms. Crawford.  Have you ever

13 been deposed before?

14       A.  No, I have not.

15       Q.  All right.  So I'm going to lay out some

16 ground rules.  We have to -- the court reporter and

17 everything else can only pick up verbal cues.  In

18 normal conversation, we nod our heads like you're

19 doing now and all that, but for the record we have

20 to say things out loud.  And that also, to keep a

21 clear record, we have to try not to talk over each

22 other.  And that's really something the lawyers, we

23 say to the lawyers, because they're the ones who

24 interrupt, not the witness.  But keep that in mind.

25           If you don't -- I will be asking
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1 questions.  If you don't understand the question,

2 you can ask me to rephrase, or say you don't

3 understand.  Don't answer a question that you think

4 you don't understand.  If during the course of this,

5 your counsel -- which of you is defending this one?

6 You're going to defend it?

7           MS. SNOW:  Yes.

8 BY MR. VECCHIOINE:

9       Q.  So your counsel will make objections.

10 Wait for the objections to fade, and then answer the

11 question unless I rephrase or something like that,

12 unless she instructs you not to answer.

13           Let's see.  So do you agree with all that?

14 Do you understand the process?

15       A.  I understand.  Could you speak up a

16 little, though?  It's hard for me to hear you.

17       Q.  I can.  You know what, I didn't turn on

18 this.  I was dealing with the other mic that I have

19 on my tie.

20       A.  Thank you.

21       Q.  But in any event, so.

22           All right.  Are you taking any

23 medications, or do you have any condition that would

24 impact your ability to testify truthfully today?

25       A.  No.
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1       Q.  All right.  For the record please state

2 your name.

3       A.  Carol Young Crawford.

4       Q.  And what's your current employment?

5       A.  I work for the CDC.

6       Q.  What's your title?

7       A.  I am the division director for the

8 division of Digital Media within the CDC Office of

9 the Associate Director for Communication, which we

10 call OADC.

11       Q.  Give me the term again.  Office of?

12       A.  The Associate Director for Communication.

13       Q.  And what are your duties in that role?

14       A.  Our division provides leadership for CDC's

15 web presence.  We provide leadership for CDC's

16 social media presence.  We have -- we lead the

17 development operations of CDC's 800-number, which is

18 our Contact Center.  We also provide graphics and

19 visual design services for the Agency.

20       Q.  And what do you do?

21       A.  I'm the director of that work.  I

22 determine strategy, objectives, oversee work.

23       Q.  Do you have any -- well, why don't we

24 start.  Go back a little bit.

25           Could you briefly outline your education
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1 and employment history up until now?

2       A.  Yes.  I started work at CDC when I was 18.

3 So I have been here 34 years.  I went to school -- I

4 have a bachelor's in business and a master's in

5 public administration, and I have been working at

6 CDC within digital communications, web, social

7 media, for really as long as those things existed at

8 CDC.

9       Q.  And where are your degrees from?

10       A.  University of -- the University of Georgia

11 for the master's, Georgia State for the bachelor.

12       Q.  Okay.  So have you always been at CDC here

13 in Atlanta?

14       A.  Yes.

15       Q.  Did you have any back- -- do you have any

16 background in medicine, sciences, or epidemiology?

17       A.  No.

18       Q.  And is there anything else about the role

19 of the division of Public Affairs' place within CDC

20 that you haven't told me?  Is there anything --

21       A.  Can you repeat?

22       Q.  Yeah.  You have told me a little bit about

23 what the division of Public Affairs does, I believe,

24 or was that only what OADC does?

25       A.  I was referring to the division of Digital
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1 Media.

2       Q.  Okay.

3       A.  Which was created in April of 2022.  Or

4 maybe March 2022.  Sorry.

5       Q.  On or about, as we say.

6       A.  Yes.

7       Q.  Now -- well, let's go back to that, the

8 division.  The division of Public Affairs, you're

9 within that at the CDC?

10       A.  There is no division of Public Affairs in

11 OADC any longer.

12       Q.  What happened there?

13       A.  The reorganization of OADC occurred in

14 March or April of 2022, and there's -- that division

15 does not exist anymore.

16       Q.  Prior to this changeover what did that

17 division do?

18       A.  The division had three branches.  The

19 division -- I mean, the branch of Digital Media,

20 where I was, the branch for News Media, and a branch

21 for Employee Communications.

22       Q.  And then what did the reorganization do

23 with each of those three?  Where did they go?

24       A.  The -- well, Digital Media became the

25 division of Digital Media, and parts from other
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1 divisions came to join the work that we were already

2 doing such as the Contact Center, and the Graphics,

3 and that was new to my organization.  The News Media

4 group is now a branch in the division of News Media,

5 I believe.  I'm sorry.

6       Q.  That's your understanding?

7       A.  Yes.  And then they have a Broadcast group

8 with them.  And the Employee Communication group is

9 now an office in the OD of the OADC.  That was the

10 other component of the Public Affairs group that you

11 asked about.

12       Q.  Okay.  So the Digital Media branch now --

13 so I understand.  I'm not sure I got all that.  Who

14 did that before?  Was that only in the Digital Media

15 section of the three you've told me, or was there

16 overlap?

17       A.  Well, there is no Digital Media branch

18 now.

19       Q.  Okay.

20       A.  There is now a division of Digital Media.

21       Q.  Okay.

22       A.  You may have to reask the second part of

23 your question.

24       Q.  Okay.  Now it's the division of Digital

25 Media.  Who had that -- what was the name of the
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1 organization that had that role before April of

2 March of 2022?

3       A.  I was the branch chief of the Digital

4 Media Branch within the Division of Public Affairs,

5 and most of the roles that our division currently

6 performs, web and social media, were in that branch.

7       Q.  Thank you.  Did anyone else have overlap

8 before?

9       A.  No.

10       Q.  All right.  So what is the current duty of

11 the Division of Digital Media?

12       A.  The current?

13       Q.  Duties?

14       A.  Of the division of Digital Media?  We

15 provide leadership for CDC's website.  We provide

16 leadership for CDC's social media efforts.  We

17 provide graphic support for the entire agency, and

18 we manage the 800-number, the Contact Center.

19       Q.  Okay.  And what's -- what is leadership;

20 when you use that word, what do you mean?

21       A.  We, for web, for example, we convene a web

22 council with people across CDC to manage the

23 governance of the website.  We manage the web

24 content management system.  We draft policies and

25 guidelines around it.
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1       Q.  In your current role since April or March

2 of 2022 --

3       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

4       Q.  --  have you had any contact with major

5 technology companies such as Twitter, Facebook,

6 LinkedIn, Microsoft or Google?

7       A.  Yes.

8       Q.  In your previous role before the

9 reorganization, did you have such contacts?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  Generally what type of contacts are those

12 when you started them?

13       A.  We started regular contact with the groups

14 at the beginning of the COVID outbreak to exchange

15 information about COVID, and most of the contact

16 since then has been around COVID or other

17 high-priority things, but mostly COVID.

18       Q.  Okay.  Let's get some timeline down.  Is

19 the beginning of COVID, would you think, February or

20 March of 2019?

21       A.  2020.

22       Q.  2020.  Excuse me.

23       A.  Yes.

24       Q.  Okay.  For our purposes.  All right.

25       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).
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1       Q.  So before that, social media had been

2 around for a while, I mean, but did -- you didn't

3 have contact with them before COVID?

4       A.  I had periodic occasional contact with the

5 platforms, depending on maybe they would reach out

6 to CDC for something, or we would be trying to reach

7 out to them for assistance with something.  I didn't

8 have regular meetings.  They were -- they were very

9 occasional.

10       Q.  All right.  COVID hits, let's say, early

11 spring of 2020.

12       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

13       Q.  How did you instigate contact with these

14 systems?  Generally, I'm speaking.  I know there may

15 be some differences, but generally how did you

16 initially instigate contacts with them?

17       A.  I don't recall who initiated contact.

18       Q.  Does that mean you don't know who within

19 CDC, or does that mean you don't know if they called

20 you?

21       A.  I don't recall if they called us first, or

22 we called them first.  It could have differed also

23 depending on the platform.

24       Q.  From media company to media company?

25       A.  There was a lot going on at that time, so.

Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 219 of 540

ER-293

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 266 of 300
(295 of 668)



 CAROL CRAWFORD  11/15/2022

www.lexitaslegal.com Phone: 1.800.280.3376 Fax: 314.644.1334
LEXITAS LEGAL

Page 18

1       Q.  Do you have a present recollection of when

2 you first spoke to any media platform about COVID,

3 or email, when I say -- had communications with?

4       A.  I believe, my recollection is, is that we

5 started talking to some of them in February and

6 March of 2020.

7       Q.  And what was the nature of the

8 discussions?

9       A.  My memory of our first interactions were

10 around getting out CDC-credible information.  For

11 instance, I know Facebook was looking at making it

12 easier to find COVID information from the CDC and

13 WHO on a platform, and they wanted to use our public

14 domain content and they were similar in

15 conversations with platforms.

16       Q.  Got it.  And did you take the initiative

17 in these meetings, or did someone direct you to go

18 do these meetings, or contacts?

19       A.  I would say I took initiative on the

20 meetings.  But there were a lot of people asking

21 staff, or other staff, are we -- were we in contact

22 with the groups, and do we have any arrangements.

23       Q.  In your current role who do you report to?

24       A.  In my current role I report to the

25 director of OADC, which is Kevin Griffis.
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1       Q.  And who did you report to prior to the

2 reorganization?  That a good word.

3       A.  Yes.

4       Q.  Can I call it a "reorg"?

5       A.  Yes, you can.

6       Q.  Prior to the reoorg, who did you report

7 to?

8       A.  I reported to the division director for

9 the division of Public Affairs, who was Michelle

10 Bonds.

11       Q.  All right.  So during the beginning of the

12 pandemic your direct report would be Michelle Barnes

13 [sic]?

14       A.  I was her direct report.

15       Q.  Yes, that's what I meant.

16       A.  Yes.

17       Q.  You would directly report to her?

18       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

19       Q.  All right.  So do you recall her talking

20 to you about what to do with the social media

21 companies early on?

22       A.  I don't believe we discussed it.

23       Q.  And why don't you believe that?

24       A.  It was an extremely busy time, and it was

25 within the scope of work I would normally handle.
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1       Q.  All right.  Let's look at the early spring

2 of 2020.  What were the types of contacts you had

3 with the social media companies?  And I'm going to

4 go through some, and you tell me if you had them.

5           Electronic email, or other communications

6 that are electronic?

7       A.  Yes.

8       Q.  Telephonic?

9       A.  Yes.

10       Q.  And in person?

11       A.  No.

12       Q.  Okay.  Who did -- if they're telephonic,

13 who were you speaking to?  I have a hard time

14 getting any of these people on the phone.  How did

15 you get -- who did you telephonically speak to at

16 any of these social media companies?

17       A.  I had points of contact at several of

18 them, and we would have meetings when we needed to

19 talk.  So we arranged calls.

20       Q.  Do you recall any particular points of

21 contact?

22       A.  Yes.

23       Q.  Who are they?

24       A.  At Facebook my primary point of contact

25 was Payton Iheme.  I-H-E-M-E.  At Google my two
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1 points of contact were Jan Antonaros, and -- forgive

2 me.  I'm blanking on this.

3       Q.  We'll be looking at emails.  If you see

4 the name, will you --

5       A.  Yes, mm-hmm.

6       Q.  Who else?

7       A.  A contact we had at Twitter was Todd

8 O'Brien [sic], though I spoke to him very rarely.

9 We had other contacts at Twitter, but I don't know

10 their names too.  I don't recall the names of other

11 platforms.  I didn't talk to them as regularly.

12           (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1 marked.)

13 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

14       Q.  Okay.  Can you take a look at Exhibit 1.

15 If counsel would hand it to her, please.

16           And have you seen this document before?

17       A.  Yes, I think I did.

18       Q.  So this is the Notice of Video Deposition

19 to be here today; right?

20       A.  Yes.

21       Q.  You're here pursuant to this notice?

22       A.  Yes.

23       Q.  All right.  And I'll just make one

24 correction.  We're not at Building 21.  We're in

25 Building 19?
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1       A.  That's correct.

2       Q.  All right.  Thank you.  You can put that

3 aside.

4           MR. VECCHIONE:  I'm going to hand to

5 counsel a packet of Exhibit 2, if I might.  And if

6 you could give -- and if you could give the witness

7 an original, and there are two for your purposes.

8           (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2 marked.)

9 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

10       Q.  I'll give you a moment to read through it.

11 Do you recognize this?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  All right.  What is it?

14       A.  An email chain with Facebook around COVID.

15       Q.  Yeah.  Early February 2020?

16       A.  Yes.

17       Q.  Let's get -- just so we can get onto the

18 same page, the way this email chain works is the

19 oldest part is in the back; right?  And then it

20 reads up.

21       A.  Yes.

22       Q.  And let's go to the back.  In the first

23 part of the chain, as far as I can see, it says from

24 Carol Y. Crawford?

25       A.  Yes.
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1       Q.  All right.  And there is a -- there is an

2 email there.  Well, could you read that for me, your

3 email?

4       A.  "Payton, just looping you in on

5 something."

6       Q.  Oh.  No, no, no.  I mean, I want to get

7 the email down.  I think it's C -- because of

8 your -- I think it's @CDC.gov?

9       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

10       Q.  Am I correct about that?

11       A.  That's mine, yes.

12       Q.  Okay.  And is that the only email,

13 government email, you used over this whole period,

14 or is there a different one?

15       A.  There is a -- it's the same email box, but

16 there is also @CDC.gov.  It's like an alias

17 for @CDC.gov.  It's the same box.

18       Q.  They all go to the same place?

19       A.  Yes.

20       Q.  It's just how the computer reads it, or?

21       A.  It's just an easier email address for

22 someone to give people --

23       Q.  Quicker to write?

24       A.  -- than .

25       Q.  Do you have any other government --
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1       A.  No.

2       Q.  And how about have you contacted any of

3 the social media companies with a personal email?

4       A.  Never.

5       Q.  Okay.  So and then this is -- I believe

6 this is a fellow we identified earlier; right?

7 Who's Payton Iheme?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  And if I see @fb.com, that's your

10 understanding that's Payton Iheme --

11       A.  Yes.

12       Q.  -- that's his email?  And then it says cc

13 , and then there is an  Facebook [sic]

14 @CDC.gov".  Who is that?

15       A.  Jay Dempsey worked -- works now and within

16 my branch as the social media lead, and he reported

17 to me.

18       Q.  Okay.  And his  has nothing to do with

19 Facebook as in Payton's email; right --

20       A.  No.

21       Q.  -- it's just a coincidence?

22       A.  It's his user ID, yes.

23       Q.  All right.  Thank you.  And what was his

24 role?

25       A.  He was the social media lead within my
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1 branch.

2       Q.  Okay.  And what do you state here in this

3 email to Payton?

4       A.  (As read) Just looping you in on something

5 Jay and I had awareness of.  Are you in the loop

6 with this.

7       Q.  All right.  And what is this?  What have

8 you attached here?

9       A.  I don't remember this part of the chain at

10 all, but it appears to be a note from Facebook to

11 someone at the State Department outlining some

12 Facebook work on COVID.

13       Q.  And let's get some terms down here.  The

14 reason you believe that, is that just from your

15 memory, or is that because it's Shelley Thakral --

16 it's from them to a person in the State Department?

17       A.  I don't know any of the names on the

18 email.

19       Q.  Okay.

20       A.  I read this.  This is the first thing I

21 read when you handed --

22       Q.  Yeah.

23       A.  -- me the document.

24       Q.  Got it.

25       A.  I started at the back.
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1       Q.  So I'm just trying to be clear.  You don't

2 have a present recollection of what this is --

3       A.  No.

4       Q.  -- what you just told me you got because

5 that's what it says; right?

6       A.  No.  I don't remember that part of the

7 chain, no.  No.

8       Q.  And were you asking Mr. Iheme whether he

9 knew about this, or was he responsible for it?

10 Which what does it mean "in the loop about it"?

11       A.  As a note, Payton is female.

12       Q.  Okay.

13       A.  I mean, I'm reading what I wrote:  Just

14 looping you on something Jay and I had awareness on.

15 Are you in the loop with this?

16           That's all I know.  It's what I typed.

17       Q.  You don't have any other understanding

18 than that?

19       A.  No.

20       Q.  All right.  Let's move to the next part of

21 the chain.

22           (REPORTER'S NOTE:  Mr. Sauer enters

23      deposition.)

24 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

25       Q.  I see it's from Payton, from Ms. Iheme, to

Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 228 of 540

ER-302

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 275 of 300
(304 of 668)



 CAROL CRAWFORD  11/15/2022

www.lexitaslegal.com Phone: 1.800.280.3376 Fax: 314.644.1334
LEXITAS LEGAL

Page 27

1 you and cc'ing Dempsey; right?

2       A.  Yes.

3       Q.  And he's responding to your request about

4 the loop.  What does he say there?

5       A.  At 3:35 for Payton is what you're asking

6 me?

7       Q.  Yes, I am.  Thank you.

8       A.  Okay.  (As read) Let me know if you're --

9 you would like to speak to our teams working on

10 these items.

11           Do you want me to read the whole email?

12       Q.  Yes, please.

13       A.  Okay.  (As read)  Our teams at Facebook

14 have been working to identify how we can support

15 efforts to provide users with accurate and timely

16 information about coronavirus.  We would like to get

17 CDC's feedback on a few key initiatives that we are

18 considering launching in the coming days, weeks.  I

19 have outlined the specifics below, and would greatly

20 appreciate your thoughts on the tactics and proposed

21 design/content.  We would be happy to jump on a

22 quick call today or tomorrow if that would be easier

23 as well."

24       Q.  All right.  That's great.  That's -- okay.

25 And then he has a bunch of proposals, like three
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1 proposals; correct?

2       A.  Yes.

3       Q.  All right.  And you respond to him the

4 next day?

5       A.  Yes.

6       Q.  All right.  And you say "sorry for the

7 delay."

8           Were you in the habit of responding to him

9 faster than less than 24 hours on these matters at

10 that point in time?

11       A.  Payton is female.

12       Q.  Yeah, I heard.  Thank you.

13       A.  It's okay.

14       Q.  You know what Payton I'm thinking of?

15       A.  No.

16       Q.  The football player.

17       A.  Oh, sorry.

18           I don't know.  At this time I believe we

19 were working a lot of hours, and a few hours seemed

20 like a long time.  I don't think I -- I don't think

21 Payton and I had known each other via email very

22 long at this point, so I can't speculate on how

23 quick I normally email her.

24       Q.  Okay.  And you say in here in item one:

25 As well, if can rotate messages, there might be
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1 times we might want to address widespread myths like

2 mask use or new issues.

3           At this time what was the myth of mask

4 use?

5       A.  My general memory of mask use was that

6 there was confusion about whether people should wear

7 masks or not.

8       Q.  And what was CDC's view at that time?

9       A.  I really can't speak to our

10 recommendations.  I probably don't have the specific

11 recall of the timelines.

12       Q.  Okay.  And then your next sentence:  "This

13 could and should replace flu shot messaging."

14           And was that messaging that the platforms

15 were already doing about flu prior to COVID?

16       A.  This was one of the occasional

17 interactions that I recall having with Facebook.

18 They had -- I believe -- I believe they approached

19 CDC about flu messaging that prior flu season, and

20 we had had a few phone calls with them and our flu

21 division.  And my recollection is that we provided

22 them with some public domain content for them to

23 highlight.

24       Q.  Okay.  And then the next one is you're

25 still trying to get this phone call together.  And
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1 eventually you get a phone call together; right?

2       A.  It looks like it from this chain, yes.

3       Q.  Okay.  Can you tell us who was on that

4 call besides Payton and you?

5       A.  I don't recall the specific calls from

6 that time period.

7       Q.  Okay.  And do you know what was said on

8 the call at all, what you discussed?

9       A.  On that specific call, I do not.

10       Q.  Do you have any notes, calendars, or other

11 records what was said on the call?

12       A.  I don't believe -- I mean, the calendar

13 appointment's probably in my Outlook.  I don't

14 recall us taking notes, much notes, from any of the

15 meetings.  Occasional followup items.  But I don't

16 know if we took any for this.  If we did, it would

17 have been in my email, or my record, the electronic

18 records.

19           MR. VECCHIONE:  All right.  Mr. Sauer has

20 joined us.  Can we take a five-minute break while I

21 put things in order?  And I will give you the next

22 exhibit.

23           MS. SNOW:  Okay.

24           THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  We are off record at

25 9:57.
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1           (Recess 9:57 a.m.  - 10:09 a.m.)

2           THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  We are back on the

3 record at 10:09.

4           MS. SNOW:  If I could just --

5           MR. VECCHIONE:  Go ahead.

6           MS. SNOW:  Defendants just wanted to note

7 that at the request of plaintiffs' counsel we've

8 forwarded a Zoom link with a call-in number for

9 counsel, for plaintiffs' counsel, who could not be

10 here at the deposition to listen in.  And with the

11 agreement of the parties, the Zoom link will not be

12 shared with others beyond the three plaintiffs'

13 counsel who are listening in and the Zoom, the

14 deposition will not be recorded using the phone, the

15 call-in number.

16           MR. VECCHIONE:  Remotely by them.  Just by

17 him.  (Indicating videographer.)

18           MS. SNOW:  Yes, yes.  Exactly, yes.  Thank

19 you.  And then we also just wanted to -- the witness

20 wanted to clarify a point during the last round of

21 questioning.

22 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

23       Q.  Go right ahead.

24       A.  In reviewing this email, it refreshed my

25 memory about roles.
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1       Q.  Are you looking at Exhibit 3 or 2, for my

2 purposes?

3       A.  2.

4       Q.  Thank you.

5       A.  I recalled that during the time of these

6 emails, I was actually serving as the acting

7 director for the division of Public Affairs.  I

8 served in that role for, I think, five or six

9 months.

10       Q.  Was that an add-on to your other duties,

11 or instead of, or like was it -- how did that come

12 about?

13       A.  Michelle Bonds had gone on a detail

14 somewhere else.  I don't recall where.  Sorry.  But

15 I was still really -- especially when COVID hit, I

16 really started also focusing on digital in-depth.

17 So that's why I was still involved.  I mean, digital

18 was still part of the division of Public Affairs, so

19 it was still part of my portfolio, but I had the

20 expertise on it, so.

21       Q.  All right.  Thank you for that.  And

22 during the day if there is any -- you have further

23 recollection as further documents get put in front

24 of you, feel free to interrupt me and tell me that.

25       A.  Okay.
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1           MR. VECCHIONE:  Does the witness have

2 Exhibit 3 in front of her?

3           MS. SNOW:  There you go.

4           (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3 marked.)

5           MR. VECCHIONE:  This is a short one.  Take

6 a second to take a look at it.

7 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

8       Q.  Do you recognize this document?

9       A.  No.

10       Q.  Can you tell me what the subject line is

11 of the first email on the chain?

12       A.  Facebook COVID-19 Response Efforts.

13       Q.  All right.  And it's from Ms. Iheme that

14 we've spoken about before to you; correct?

15       A.  Yes.

16       Q.  And it says:  "Apologies for the late

17 note," she says to you.  I want to ensure you -- "I

18 want to ensure you are aware that Mark just shared

19 our ongoing work to support government."

20           Who's Mark?

21       A.  I don't know for sure, but I'm assuming

22 this was Mark Zuckerberg.

23       Q.  And she says to you:  "Our goal is to help

24 organizations to get their safety message out to the

25 public, remove misinformation, and support overall
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1 community efforts in areas where we can be of help;"

2 right?

3       A.  Yes.

4       Q.  Now, the next thing I see is above that it

5 says on "March 5, 2020, at 8:55 a.m. Crawford, Carol

6 Y...wrote," is that an email, is that a reply email

7 from you to her?

8       A.  Yes.

9       Q.  You say there:  "We want to do a very

10 controlled Q&A and would like to know our best

11 options."

12           What are you referring to there, what's

13 going on?

14       A.  I believe this is in reference to a

15 Facebook Live event that we were trying to plan, and

16 it was going to be -- we expected it to be pretty

17 big, and we were asking for help in setting it up in

18 the best practices.

19       Q.  Was that from a technological standpoint,

20 like, how it was going to work, or did you need

21 their input on information?

22       A.  My memory is that it was mostly about how

23 it would work.  We had not done many big Facebook

24 Lives before then, and we were worried about having,

25 like, thousands of Q&A that we couldn't possibly
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1 answer.

2       Q.  All right.  And the next thing you say

3 there is:  "Our lead POC" -- is that point of

4 contact, when I see POC?

5       A.  Yes.

6       Q.  Is Kat Turner at  -- I'll say ?

7       A.  .

8       Q.  @CDC.gov.  So who is that?

9       A.  Kat was a social media coordinator in one

10 of our centers that was willing to help manage this

11 effort.

12       Q.  In the original email from Payton Iheme

13 what was your understanding of why she was sending

14 you this information?

15       A.  I don't recall the specific email, or --

16 there looks like there is a link -- or what it said,

17 or what it was about.  But they would often forward

18 posts from their corporations for awareness for us.

19 So I assume that was probably what this was about.

20       Q.  Okay.  And then your final email on the

21 chain you send your -- that's your phone number at

22 work, I take it?

23       A.  It's actually my personal cell that I use

24 as a what CDC calls "bring your own device."

25       Q.  Got it.
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1       A.  Yes, but it was the cell phone.

2       Q.  It's your cell number you use?

3       A.  Yes.

4       Q.  Did you message through that cell to any

5 of the social media companies?

6       A.  The only time I recall using my cell phone

7 to message anyone was like we're late for the

8 meeting, or the contact number didn't work or

9 something like that.  We didn't have any kind of

10 conversations on texting.

11       Q.  Do you recall whether you spoke to Payton

12 Iheme at this time?

13       A.  No.

14       Q.  Now, this is -- from my understanding is

15 this call that you're referring at the top, your

16 last part, is that to arrange the Facebook meeting,

17 or is that the Facebook meeting, the Q&A?

18           MS. SNOW:  Objection.  Vague.

19 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

20       Q.  Okay.  So let me tell you -- the reason

21 it's vague is because I don't understand something.

22           Here's what I'm trying to understand from

23 information.  Originally Ms. Iheme writes to you

24 about this information.  And then you say you want a

25 controlled Q&A; right?  On Facebook.  And then
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1 somehow you're going to -- you're going to arrange

2 that with them and Kat Turner.

3           And then you say I'll -- here's my number,

4 and Kat knows it, I have an appointment.

5           Did you have a conversation is what I'm

6 getting about besides the Facebook Q&A?

7       A.  I don't know.  But we talked pretty

8 regularly around this time, so I imagine we probably

9 did talk.  But I don't know that for sure.

10       Q.  All right.  What was your understanding of

11 Ms. Iheme's statement that the -- Facebook was going

12 to help organizations remove misinformation?

13       A.  I don't recall a recollection of

14 discussing misinformation with Payton around this

15 time, so I can't speculate.

16       Q.  You don't have a present recollection of

17 what that meant?

18       A.  No.

19       Q.  All right.  And once again for this call

20 that you had, and maybe Kat Turner was on it, maybe

21 she wasn't, do you have any record of that call, or

22 what might have been said?

23       A.  It doesn't look like this had an

24 appointment associated with it, so I don't think

25 there's an appointment, and I don't know -- I don't
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1 remember the call, so I don't recall if there were

2 notes.  But I know in general very little notes were

3 kept.

4       Q.  Now, you said you don't recall many

5 conversations about removing misinformation at that

6 time.  When do you recall such conversations?

7       A.  I remember it becoming occasionally

8 discussed in the fall of 2020 perhaps.

9       Q.  Okay.  And what do you recall being

10 discussed at that time?

11       A.  I can recall us generally saying things to

12 the effect of -- I don't remember any specifics, but

13 misinformation is really growing, or, you know, what

14 do you think we could be doing to address it?  That

15 kind of conversation.

16       Q.  All right.

17       A.  Very general.

18           (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 4 marked.)

19 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

20       Q.  Fair enough.  Let's move on to Exhibit 4.

21       A.  Okay.

22       Q.  All right.  And I'll give you a moment to

23 take a look at that.

24           All right.  Have you had a chance to

25 review?
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1       A.  Yes.

2       Q.  Do you recall this email?

3       A.  No.

4       Q.  All right.  Well, let's talk about it and

5 who these people are because I think we have some

6 new folks.

7           So what's the subject line of the first,

8 the email there at the top?

9       A.  CDC brief on ways to reach high-risk and

10 frequent travelers.

11       Q.  All right.  And what is the CDC brief?

12 What does that refer to?

13       A.  I don't -- I don't recall what the brief

14 was.

15       Q.  Okay.  But as -- my question is a little

16 broader than that.  We're lawyers.

17       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

18       Q.  We write briefs all the time; right?  They

19 are actually physical pieces of a paper that we put

20 forth our arguments for.  Sometimes people use that

21 term as bullet points, or sometimes their positions,

22 even just orally stated.

23           What I'm trying to get at is what does

24 "brief" mean in this context?

25       A.  To me, a brief probably was a one- or
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1 two-page summary of something that we, or they, were

2 trying to do.

3       Q.  Now, this email exchange I think occurred

4 sometime at the end of March 31st; is that correct?

5       A.  Yes.

6       Q.  All right.  And it was between you and

7 Kevin Hatcher, and his email is @fb.com?

8       A.  That's what the email says.

9       Q.  All right.  Who is Kevin Hatcher?

10       A.  Oh.  That says -- I don't have a clear

11 recollection.  There was a lot going on during this

12 time beyond any of this work.  But I think that

13 Kevin Hatcher might have been some type of

14 instructional designer with Facebook that I --

15 looking at the units and the Unit 1 and Unit 2,

16 there was an effort to put together like learning

17 modules that communities could use.  I think that

18 that might have been what this was about, and that

19 that was Kevin's role.

20       Q.  All right.

21       A.  I cannot be sure, though.

22       Q.  All right.  But from your understanding of

23 what this says --

24       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

25       Q.  -- and how it worked, that is your best
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1 understanding right now; whether it's right or wrong

2 that's what you understand?

3       A.  Yes, I remember that activity, and this

4 seems to match that activity.

5       Q.  All right.  Then at the top you say:

6 "Kevin, I realized others made comments on the pdfs

7 after I sent you the previous one.  So, this

8 answered your Q."

9           Is that question?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  -- "on breathing.  I hate to ask but can

12 your team check the other comments here?  I

13 apologize."

14           What are the other comments?

15       A.  I don't know what the other comments were.

16 But it appears to me that we sent to a group of

17 people the drafts, and CDC folks commented and I

18 forwarded it back.

19       Q.  All right.

20       A.  But I don't remember the comments.

21       Q.  All right.  Can you go to the end page of

22 this document?

23       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

24       Q.  It says:  "Recommend breaking this

25 sentence up as it's linking stress to severe illness
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1 in a way I we don't.  If ARTF doesn't suggest an

2 edit, we can."

3           Do you know who ARTF is?

4       A.  I don't.  But I believe it's probably a

5 CDC task force.  TF would be task force.  I don't

6 know what AR is.

7       Q.  Got it.  Do you know what Mr. Hatcher was

8 referring to where it says:  "Emergency warning

9 signs include difficulty breathing"?  Do you know

10 what that was referring to?

11       A.  I only know what I'm reading here.

12       Q.  Right.

13       A.  The unit that he was developing must have

14 had this wording, and he was asking for

15 clarification on what the wording should be.

16       Q.  All right.  And do you have an

17 understanding, or do you know, why Mr. Hatcher was

18 asking whether Facebook should add extreme before

19 emergency warning signs?

20       A.  I have no recollection of it.

21       Q.  Okay.  Do you know why Mr. Hatcher asked

22 whether he should replace:  Older people are at high

23 risk from severe illness from COVID to people over

24 65?  Do you know if there was any messaging from CDC

25 at that time?

Case 3:22-cv-00737-CRB   Document 112-2   Filed 02/15/23   Page 244 of 540

ER-318

Case: 23-15858, 08/07/2023, ID: 12770011, DktEntry: 20-3, Page 291 of 300
(320 of 668)



 CAROL CRAWFORD  11/15/2022

www.lexitaslegal.com Phone: 1.800.280.3376 Fax: 314.644.1334
LEXITAS LEGAL

Page 43

1       A.  I do not know.

2       Q.  All right.  Do you know now sitting here

3 whether there is any preference by digital media at

4 CDC's digital output right now, for either of those

5 terms?

6       A.  I do not know because our office does not

7 write the content.

8       Q.  Okay.  You can put that aside.

9       A.  Okay.

10           (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 5 marked.)

11 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

12       Q.  Take a minute, take a look at that.

13       A.  Okay.

14       Q.  You've got it?

15       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

16       Q.  So I think we don't have any new players;

17 right?  These are all the same people we talked

18 about before, you and Ms. Iheme and Mr. Hatcher.

19           Can you tell me what the subject of this

20 email string was?

21       A.  CDC brief on ways to reach high-risk and

22 frequent travelers.

23       Q.  Okay.  And I think this is March 30th?

24       A.  2020, yes.

25       Q.  And so I guess it's before the one I
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1 showed you that was March 31st, Exhibit 4?

2       A.  I don't have that exhibit, but I assume

3 that's correct.

4       Q.  Okay.  We can compare it.

5           Can you go to the very beginning of the

6 string on this?

7       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

8       Q.  There is a blacked out "from," and then it

9 says:  "When:  3:30-4:30, Subject:  CDC brief on

10 ways to reach high-risk and frequent travelers."

11           Do you see that?

12       A.  Yes.

13       Q.  What is that?

14       A.  It looks like an appointment for a phone

15 call.

16       Q.  Okay.

17       A.  But I'm not -- it's not fully there.

18       Q.  Yeah.  Would Facebook be sending that to

19 you, or is that just at the bottom of his email?  Do

20 you have any understanding of how it works?

21       A.  They have a different email system than we

22 have, but it looks similar to someone forwarding on

23 an appointment and using the chain as an email,

24 though I don't know that for sure.

25       Q.  Got it.  And this starts at a March 27th
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1 email from him to him -- or from her to herself and

2 you; correct?

3       A.  Yes.

4       Q.  And then there is a Margaret E. Silver.

5 Who is that?

6       A.  She was with our Travelers Health group.

7 I believe that's where she was.

8       Q.  And what was the Travelers Health group?

9       A.  We have a unit at CDC that focuses on

10 traveler's health.  There is a website on traveler's

11 health.

12       Q.  And who's Caroline Seman?

13       A.  I believe she was also with Travelers

14 Health.

15       Q.  All right.  And then I see Dempsey.  Is

16 that the same Dempsey we saw before?

17       A.  Yes, yes.

18       Q.  Does that -- and then ?

19       A.  That's still Jay Dempsey.

20       Q.  Still Dempsey, it's just split; right?

21       A.  Mm-hmm (affirmative).

22       Q.  So Ms. Iheme says to you:  "Hi, Carol and

23 team.  As relayed on the call, we're happy to target

24 additional populations such as youth as the content

25 becomes available.  Just let us know.  For the first
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1 wave, we'd like to move forward with launching this

2 next week," I think it's "ideally April 3rd to the

3 groups for which you already produced content (older

4 adults, HIV plus, asthma and pregnant women)."

5           Do you know whether that's for travelers,

6 or just general populations?

7       A.  That was for general populations.

8       Q.  All right.  And how do you know that?

9       A.  I have some recollection of this project.

10       Q.  Okay.

11       A.  It was like units of information on COVID

12 that Facebook communities could attach to their

13 groups.  And I'm not 100 percent sure about this,

14 but I think we asked about travel, and then they

15 mentioned the idea of this project and said if you

16 have content for -- that would help other groups, we

17 could do similar things.

18       Q.  Okay.  And then he then asks how you want

19 this to read on the Facebook's sites, whether

20 sourced from CDC, or authored by CDC?

21       A.  Yes, I see that.

22       Q.  Do you know what the answer was to that?

23       A.  I don't recall which one we picked, but

24 I'm pretty sure it was one of the sources.

25       Q.  Okay.  Let's go up to the next, the March
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1 27th, 3:01 p.m.

2       A.  Okay.

3       Q.  There is some more people here, I just

4 want to -- I don't know that we've seen.  Well, we

5 have seen her.  Okay.  Never mind.  You described

6 it.

7           And then at the very top, March 30, he

8 says they are going to have their content

9 strategists make the changes you'd agreed to that

10 day.

11       A.  That's what I'm reading as well.

12       Q.  Okay.  Now, why was the CDC editing this

13 content?

14           MS. SNOW:  Objection.  Mischaracterizes

15 testimony and the document.

16 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

17       Q.  Okay.  You can answer.

18       A.  I don't have the attachments or the

19 documents, so I don't know what we were editing or

20 not editing.  But we had content on the website, but

21 the format of the units was slightly different.  So

22 we had to take the content from our website and have

23 it fit in the units.

24       Q.  Okay.

25       A.  And they requested CDC's review of that.
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1       Q.  All right.  Do you know why in the part

2 where he says:  "If we don't launch next week we'll

3 be pulled onto other COVID-19 projects, hence the

4 urgency," do you know why he's asking you about when

5 they should launch?

6       A.  I don't think he was asking me about when

7 we should launch.  I think he's letting us know if

8 we don't launch they may not get to it.

9       Q.  All right.  And do you know if those, if

10 he's referring to other COVID projects he has with

11 CDC, or just generally?

12       A.  I don't know for sure.

13       Q.  You can put that aside.

14       A.  Okay.

15       Q.  Just one more question about that.  Is he

16 creating a Facebook page for CDC, or just for

17 Facebook, do you know?

18       A.  My recollection of what this project was,

19 it was like units that would exist in Facebook that

20 like if you're in a group on travel that the group

21 administrator could provide a link to these units if

22 people wanted additional COVID information.  They

23 are not up any longer and my memory is vague on

24 them.

25           MR. VECCHIONE:  Got it.  Thank you.
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1           (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 6 marked.)

2 BY MR. VECCHIONE:

3       Q.  Take a moment to look at this.  This is

4 Exhibit 6.  The mark may look like a 4, but I assure

5 you it's Exhibit 6.

6           All right.  Do you recognize this

7 document?

8       A.  No.

9       Q.  But do you know what it is?

10       A.  Yes.

11       Q.  What is it?

12       A.  It's a discussion about access to or for

13 Facebook giving us CrowdTangle COVID reports.

14       Q.  All right.  And let's talk about this a

15 little bit.  We're more forward in time; right?

16 This is sometime in January 2021?

17       A.  Correct.

18       Q.  And I think both dates say January 26,

19 2021.  Would you agree with me there?

20       A.  Yes.  Well no, the first one is

21 January 25th.

22       Q.  All right.  See, that's why we have

23 witnesses.

24           All right.  The first thing is what's

25 CrowdTangle?
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1       A.  I have not used CrowdTangle personally,

2 but I've seen it demonstrated.  But it is to my --

3 my description of it is it's a social media

4 listening tool for Meta properties.

5       Q.  What are Meta properties?

6       A.  Like Instagram and Facebook.

7       Q.  Okay.  So by Meta properties you mean

8 properties of the company Meta, not on some other

9 level of?

10       A.  No.

11       Q.  Okay.

12       A.  Their platforms.

13       Q.  Got it.  Thank you.

14           Let's look at that January 25th email,

15 because I think we have some new people here.

16           There is Payton Iheme, and you.  It's from

17 her to you.  And you cc Lauren Balog Wright at

18 Facebook.  Do you know who that is?

19       A.  I think that Lauren, just from reading

20 this, she was the person that was the CrowdTangle

21 expert and was going to provide the reports.

22       Q.  Okay.  And Priya Gangolly?

23       A.  Priya Gangolly I interpreted to be like an

24 assistant to Payton.

25       Q.  And Kelly Perron?
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1 A. And from this email I believe Kelly was

2 also going to provide the CrowdTangle reports.

3 Q. And it says:  Subject CrowdTangle COVID-19

4 reports for WHO.

5 Not to channel Abbott and Costello, but

6 who is that?

7 A. World Health Organization.

8 Q. And why were they asking you about

9 information to WHO?

10 A. Well, I do have -- after reading this I do

11 recall the conversation a bit.  But what they are

12 saying in this email is we provide this report to

13 WHO, and we can provide it to you as well.

14 Q. Okay.  What do you remember of the

15 conversation?

16 A. Just that they -- I believe they mentioned

17 on a call that they could possibly do this, and this

18 is a followup email.  And they shared the reports

19 and occasionally they would ask me on the call if

20 these reports were helpful.

21 Q. And let's see what he says here, what she

22 says here.  "Hi, Carol, I am following up on our

23 conversation several weeks ago about providing more

24 detailed reporting from our CrowdTangle team.  I

25 wanted to share our first CrowdTangle COVID content
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